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CharaCteristiCs of the Growth enterprise Market 
(“GeM”) of the stoCk exChanGe of honG konG LiMited 
(the “stoCk exChanGe”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which 
a high investment risk may be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with 
neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to forecast future profitability. 
Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed on 
GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should 
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile 
and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and 
other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities 
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid 
market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet 
website operated by the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to 
issue paid announcements in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors 
should note that they need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-
date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no 
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the 
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited 
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars 
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the 
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete 
in all material respects and not misleading; (ii) there are no other matters the omission of which 
would make any statement in this report misleading; and (iii) all opinions expressed in this 
report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and 
assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Mission Statement
We are the pioneers in a new technology and industry.

There are many problems and difficulties in our way.
We will conquer and overcome. 

We believe our future will rest on the people that we train 
and nurture today. Together working as a team, 

we will build and lead the digital content 
development industry in Asia.
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Directors’ Biography

Mr. Cao Zhong, aged �8, graduated from Zhejiang 
University, the People’s Republ ic of China and 
Graduate School, The Chinese Academy of Social 
Sciences with a bachelor degree in engineering 
and a master degree in economics. Mr. Cao was 
appointed the Joint Chairman of the Company in 
February 2005 and is currently the Chairman of the 
Company. He was appointed the Vice Chairman of 
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited (“Shougang 
Grand”), the substantial shareholder of the Company 
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), in November 2001 and 
has acted concurrently as the Managing Director of 
Shougang Grand since February 2006. Mr. Cao was 
also appointed the Deputy Chairman and General 
Manager of Shougang Holding (Hong Kong) Limited 
(“Shougang Holding”), the substantial shareholder of 
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO, the Managing Director of Shougang Concord 
International Enterprises Company Limited (“Shougang 
International”), the Chairman of each of Shougang 
Concord Technology Holdings Limited (“Shougang 
Technology”) and Shougang Concord Century Holdings 
Limited (“Shougang Century”) in November 2001. 
He was appointed an Executive Director of APAC 
Resources Limited (“APAC”) in April 2007 and was 
re-designated as the Chairman of APAC in May 
2007. He was also appoint a Director of each of 
Wheeling Holdings Limited, SCG Investment (BVI) 
Limited, Grand Phoenix Limited and Upper Nice 
Assets Ltd., all being substantial shareholders of 
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO. Mr. Cao acts as the Assistant General Manager 
of Shougang Corporat ion, the ult imate holding 
company of Shougang Holding, and the Chairman of 
China Shougang International Trade and Engineering 
Corporation. He has extensive experience in corporate 
management and operation.

Mr. Chen Zheng, aged �8, engineer and senior 
economist. He holds a bachelor degree in chemical 
engineer ing and a master degree in business 
administration. Mr. Chen was appointed an Executive 
Director of the Company in February 2005 and is 
currently the Managing Director of the Company. Mr. 
Chen was also appointed an Executive Director of 
Shougang Grand in January 200� and was designated 
as the Managing Director of Operations of Shougang 
Grand in February 2006. He was also appointed a 
Director of each of SCG Investment (BVI) Limited, 
Grand Phoenix Limited and Upper Nice Assets Ltd., 
all being substantial shareholders of the Company 
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Chen 
has extensive experience in investing business and 
corporate management.

Mr. Jin Guo Ping, aged �9, senior economist. He 
holds a master of business administration degree 
of China Europe International Business School. Mr. 
Jin was appointed the Vice President and Executive 
Director of the Company in February 2006 and 
is currently the Deputy Managing Director of the 
Company. He is an ordinary committee member 
of China Animation Association and vice president 
of Shanghai Film Association. He is also a visiting 
professor in Animation School of Beijing Film Academy, 
a counselor of each of Animation School of Jinlin 
College of the Arts and Korea Animation Producers 
Association. Mr. Jin was a director of Shanghai 
Animation Film Studio, the chairman of Shanghai 
Yilimei Animation Company Limited, the chairman 
of Shanghai Cartoon Cultural Developing Co. Ltd., 
a publisher of “Cartoon King” Magazine, the vice 
president of Shanghai Fi lm Group Corporation, 
the vice chairman of Shanghai United Circuit Co., 
Ltd, a director of Shanghai Paradise Corporation 
Ltd, the general manager of Shanghai Animation 
Film & TV (Group) Corporation and the assistant 
director of broadcasting of Shanghai Television. Mr. 
Jin has extensive experience in animation and film 
industries.
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Ms. Lu Yi, Gloria, aged 37, a chartered financial 
analyst. Ms. Lu was appointed the Deputy Managing 
Director of the Company in September 2007. She 
was a senior management of Deutsche Securities 
Asia Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deutsche 
Bank AG.

Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony, aged 65. Mr. Leung was 
appointed a Non-executive Director of the Company 
in December 2005 and a Non-executive Director of 
Shougang Grand in July 1995. He is also a Director of 
each of Shougang International, Shougang Technology 
and Shougang Century. Mr. Leung holds a master 
degree in business administration from New York 
State University and has over 30 years of experience 
in finance, investment and corporate management. 
He is the managing director of CEF Group.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon, aged 58, graduated 
from the University of Hong Kong in 1972 and qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales 
in 1977. Mr. Kwong was appointed an Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Company in Apri l 
2003. Mr. Kwong was a partner of PriceWaterhouse 
Hong Kong from 198� to 1998. He has served 
as a part-time panel member of the Hong Kong 
Government’s Central Policy Unit from 1993 to 1995 
and was an independent member of the Council 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) from 1992 to 1997 during 
which time he also acted as convener of both the 
Compliance Committee and the Listing Committee 
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kwong also serves as 
an independent non-executive director of a number 
of Hong Kong listed companies, including COSCO 
International Holdings Limited, Tianjin Development 
Holdings Limited, Beijing Capital International Airport 
Company Limited, Frasers Property (China) Limited, 
NWS Holdings Limited, China Oilfield Services Limited, 
Concepta Investments Limited, China Chengtong 
Development Group Limited, Ping An Insurance (Group) 
Company of China, Limited, Quam Limited, China 
Power International Development Limited, Henderson 
Land Development Company Limited, Henderson 
Investment Limited, Agile Property Holdings Limited 
and CITIC 1616 Holdings Limited.

Professor Bu Fan Xiao, aged 62, graduated from 
Zhejiang University in 1982 majored in chemical 
engineering with automation concentration. Professor 
Bu was appointed an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company in May 2005. He was the 
vice chancellor of Zhejiang University and is currently 
the chairman of Zhejiang University Qware Technology 
Group Co., Ltd. Professor Bu has over 20 years of 
experience in administrative management.

Mr. Hui Hung, Stephen, aged 50. Mr. Hui was 
appointed an Independent Non-executive Director 
of the Company in February 2006. He was also 
an Independent Non-executive Director of each of 
Shougang Century and Shougang Grand. Mr. Hui is 
the managing director of Federal Glory International 
Limited and Eastern Gain International Limited. Prior 
to joining the Company, he had been the manager 
of the China Division of the Far East Regional Office 
of the Bank of Credit and Commerce International in 
Hong Kong and an independent non-executive director 
of each of The Quaypoint Corporation Limited and 
Apex Capital Limited (formerly known as Haywood 
Investments Limited), Hong Kong listed companies. 
Mr. Hui graduated from Middlesex University in the 
United Kingdom in 1982 with a bachelor of arts 
degree in economics and geography and has been 
conferred a master of business administration in 2001 
by the Barrington University of the United States. He 
has extensive experience in banking, investment and 
financing investment in Mainland China.
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Revenue by pRincipal activity foR the yeaR 2007

75% Digital content distribution and exhibitions

21% CG creation and production

4%  CG training courses

Revenue by geogRaphical location foR the yeaR 2007

58% The People’s Republic of China, for the 
purpose of this report, does not include 
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

28% The United States

5%  Europe

5%  Middle-East

4%  Others



Global DiGital Creations HolDinGs limiteD AnnuAl RepoRt 2007 �

Corporate Structure
As at 31 December 2007

SH
OUGANG

CONCORD GRAND

(GROUP) 
LIM

ITE
D
*

(Berm
ud

a)

(St
oc

k C
od

e: 
73

0)

100%

INST
ITU

TE
 OF D

IGITA
L

MED
IA TE

CHNOLO
GY

(SH
EN

ZH
EN

) L
IM

ITE
D
#

(PR
C)

INST
ITU

TE
 OF D

IGITA
L

MED
IA TE

CHNOLO
GY

(SH
ANGHAI) L

IM
ITE

D
#

(PR
C)

GDC

TE
CHNOLO

GY

LIM
ITE

D 

(BVI)

PU
BLIC

50.76%

49.24%

100%

61.93%

GLOBAL DIGITAL CREATIONS HOLDINGS LIMITED*
(Stock Code: 8271)

49%
CFGDC DIGITAL CINEMA
COMPANY LIMITED#

(PRC)

* Listed company
# For identification only



�

March, 2007

Full 3D CG film “Thru the Moebius 
Strip” received the “Most Influential 
Local Original Creation Award” again 
at the 3rd Annual YACA Animation 
and Comic Original Creation Award 
Presentation 2006

april, 2007

Liang Jianbo, IDMT Shenzhen Staff, 
received the “Best Multi-Frame Comic 
Award” with “Steamed Bun and 
the Black Shark” under the profes-
sional category of “Handsome Monkey 
Award” Original Animation and Comic 
Contest in the 3rd China International 
Animation and Comic Festival

aUGUST, 2007

SA-2100 DSR™ Digital Film Server from 
GDC Technology receives the “BIRTV 
Award for Outstanding Product”. The 
award further reaffirms GDC Technol-
ogy’s position in the highly-competitive 
digital cinema arena and our commit-
ment in bringing the best multimedia 

experience to the masses with the best 
innovation and product

SepTeMber, 2007

IDMT Shenzhen’s production “The 
Legend of Shangri-la” received the 
“Best Visual Effects Award” at the 
Asian Youth Animation and Comic 
Contest 2007

IDMT Shenzhen’s production “Fox 
and Crow” was nominated for the 
“Encouragement Award” in the TBS 
Digicon 6+3 Contest (China Region) 
jointly held by the Cartoons Commit-
tee of China Television Artists Asso-
ciation and TBS of Japan

JanUary, 2007

IDMT Shenzhen received the “Best 
Exhibitor Award” with its movie “Thru 
the Moebius Strip” at the 2nd China 
Cultural Expo

“Thru the Moebius Strip” received the 
“Best Creative Award” in the Digital 
Interactive Entertainment Industry 
Annual Selection 2006 of Shanghai 
Information Industry (Group) Cup

FebrUary, 2007

“Thru the Moebius Strip” received the 
“Best Theatrical Animation Award in Chi-
na, Hong Kong and Macau” under the 
category of animations and comics for 
2006 in the Original Animation and Comic 
Arts Competition of the 3rd Golden 
Dragon Award.  Chen Ming received the 
“Best Animation Director Award” under 
the category of animations at the same 
ceremony with “The Legend of Shangri-
la” featuring traditional Chinese culture

Awards and Citations
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noveMber, 2007

G D C  w a s  r a t e d  a m o n g  t h e 
“China Top 100 in the Creat ive 
industry” in the China Creat ive 
I n d u s t r y  A n n u a l  Aw a rd  2 0 0 7

IDMT Shenzhen was rated as a 
“Key national Enterprise for Culture 
Export 2007-200�” by the Ministry of 
Commerce, the Ministry of Culture, 
the State Administration of Radio, 
Film and Television, and the General 
Administration of Press and Publication 
of the People’s Republic of China, 
and successfully entered into “The 
Category of Key national Enterprises 
for Culture Export 2007-200�”. Such 
recognition was jointly granted by the 
Ministry of Commerce, the Ministry 
of Culture, the State Administration 
of Radio, Film and Television, and the 
General Administration of Press and 
Publication of the People’s Republic 
of China for the first time to 142 
enterprises in the nation.

DeceMber, 2007

IDMT Shenzhen received the “Chinese 

Blooming CG Hero Enterprise Award 

2007” from CGW and China Visual

The training section of GDC received 
the title of the “Most Well-received 
Training Institute in the Prospering 
Chinese CG Industry in 2007” from 
CGW and China Visual

JanUary, 2008

IDMT Shenzhen was rated the first 
p lace among “The Top Ten CG 
Production Companies in China 
in 2007” by CGM, Beijing Society 
of Image and Graphics, Bei j ing 
Mult imedia Industry Associat ion 
and Shanghai Multimedia Industry 
Association

The training section of GDC was 
rated the first place among “The Top 
Ten CG Training Institutes in China 
in 2007” by CGM, Beijing Society 
of Image and Graphics, Bei j ing 
Mult imedia Industry Associat ion 
and Shanghai Multimedia Industry 
Association

The student team of the 11th long-
term course of the Shanghai Training 
Centre of GDC, with the original short 
animation “Spider”, received the 
“Best Short Animation Award” under 
the category of arts in the Chinese 
Festival of CCGF Digital Graphics 
in the category of Short Animations 
Institutes, from CGM and China 
Animation Association

The training section of GDC received 
the t i t le of  an “Advanced Work 
Unit in Training for 2007” from the 
Labour and Social Security Bureau of 
Shanghai Changning District

Awards and Citations
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Chairman’s
statement
through effective business development and strong 
execution, the Group achieved significant business 
growth and market recognition in the year 2007. 
During this year, we have again demonstrated our 
professional capabilities and dedications in each of our 
respective positions, and the synergetic results were 
apparent. the board of Directors has been thoroughly 
engaged to guide and help us by continuously 
improving comprehensive management incentive share 
option schemes of the Group, restructuring, engaging 
investors, and establishing partnership between the 
Group and influential government media entities. most 
significantly, the Group have cooperated with China 
Film Group Corporation (“CFGC”) for the deployment 
of digital cinema network in the People’s republic 
of China (the “PrC”, for the purpose of this report, 
does not include Hong Kong, macau and taiwan).

i’m pleased to report that the Group achieved a 
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$246.1 
million for this year, which represented a growth of 
approximately 348% over that for the year 2006. 
Furthermore, all our three business divisions, digital 
content distribution and exhibitions, computer graphic 
(“CG”) creation and production, and CG training, 
reported net profit for this year. it was the first time 
for all our divisions to have such achievement in our 
entire history. more significantly, the progress of the 
Group’s operation and business expansion was well 
received by the investment community. During this 
year, the Company issued shares in accordance 
with one subscription agreement and three placing 
and subscription agreements to attract in total of 
approximately HK$471.2 mill ion investment from 
prestigious investors. the market cap of the Group 
increased by above 10 t imes to approximately 



12

Chairman’s statement

HK$2,201.9 mill ion by end of this year, and the 
Group’s net worth also turned from net liabilities in the 
year 2006 to net assets of approximately HK$435.2 
million by the end of this year.

in digital content distribution and exhibitions division, 
revenue for this year amounted to approximately 
HK$183.9 million, which reported a hyper growth 
by approximately 11 times comparing with that for 
the year 2006, while the segment result for this year 
also improved from deficit of approximately HK$7.2 
million for the year 2006 to profit of approximately 
HK$4.5 million for this year. this was the result of 
commencement of deployment of digital cinemas 
worldwide during this year, which has brought ample 
business opportunities to us, and our commitment 
to providing superior digital delivery and display 
solutions through research and development. our 
aim is to best satisfy the customers’ needs for 
digital delivery of multimedia information to all form 
of display technologies that enhance the multimedia 
experience, improve the multimedia communication 
and reduce the cost of bringing the best quality 
multimedia display to the audience.

another monumental development is that we have 
commenced the roll out of digital cinema network in 
the PrC cooperated with CFGC, about 450 units of 
digital cinema equipment were purchased by the end 
of this year for installation to cinemas in all the 27 
provinces in the PrC. With the continuing growth in 
the box office receipts in the PrC over the past five 

years and also expects in the future, our revenue from 
this project will increase accordingly. besides, we, 
working with CFGC, have also explored the alternative 
revenue in addition to the share of box office.

after achieving the brand name recognition in the 
most competitive theatrical exhibition market, we have 
entered into the out-of-home digital advertisement 
market during this year by designing and manufacturing 
of digital signage servers for the delivery of high 
qual i ty content, to out-of-home advert isement 
displays via cable or satel l i te network. We are 
focused on developing core technologies to produce 
cost-competitive and high quality solutions for the 
entertainment and advertising markets so as to make 
the experience more immersive and realistic.

in CG creation and production division, revenue and 
segment result for this year amounted to approximately 
HK$51.3 million and HK$17.5 million, respectively, 
which reported a respectively increase of approximately 
69% and over 270 times comparing with that for the 
year 2006. such significant improvement is mainly 
attributable to our expanding CG production service 
customer base worldwide, improving financial control, 
improving production efficiency, and enhancing service 
quality and reliability. Comparing with other CG service 
companies in asia, it is unprecedented that we could 
achieve such financial milestone in less than three 
years since its initial focus on service business.
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Chairman’s statement

besides, we are recognised and considered “pre-
proved” by several leading studios and distributors 
in Hollywood and europe. all our customers who had 
risen funding for new projects had placed new service 
orders to us so far. our progress in CG business is 
also recognised by the PrC government: (i) we were 
granted “Key national enterprises for Cultural export 
2007-2008” jointly by four top Chinese government 
ministries; (ii) shenzhen municipal government has 
approved the land use for us to construct one of 
the most modern digital entertainment production 
facilities in the PrC; and (iii) Chongqing municipal 
government has agreed to sponsor us to set up a 
new production studio in its high-tech park in the 
year 2008 to further increase our CG production 
capacity and lower unit production cost.

Furthermore, we become more active in co-production 
deals with world leading studios this year to accumulate 
more iP asset for long term financial upside. one of 
such co-production effort results in our second full 
feature length CGi film, “little Happy submarine,” 
which will be released in summer 2008 in the PrC. 
the worldwide DVD distribution deal is already under 
discussion.

in CG training division, revenue and segment result 
for this year amounted to approximately HK$11.0 
million and HK$2.0 million, respectively, which reported 
a respectively increase of approximately 21% and 
over 16 times comparing with that for the year 
2006. this is mainly resulted from wider and more 
effective recruiting methods, higher utilisation of our 
training staff towards higher roi activities, higher 
enrollment per class, and increased number of long 
term classes, etc. We maintain our industry reputation 
as the most comprehensive and most effective CG 
professional training program evidenced by nearly full 
employment of the graduates within three months 
of graduation.

For the year 2007, we have proofed the validity of 
our business strategy through solid execution. We are 
confident that the Group is able to maintain steady 
growth and becomes one of the best digital media 
company in asia, as we are facing high growth potential 
for digital content distribution and exhibitions division, 
and having growing income from CG creation and 
production division and CG training division.

on behalf of the board, i would like to extend our 
sincere thanks to our customers, suppliers and 
shareholders for their continuous support to the Group. 
i would also extend my gratitude and appreciation 
to all management and staff for their hard work and 
dedication throughout this year.

Cao Zhong
Chairman
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ManageMent 
Discussion 
anD analysis
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

revenue for the year ended 31 December 2007 was 
approximately HK$246,125,000, when compared 
with that of approximately HK$54,920,000 for the 
year 2006, represented an increase of approximately 
348%. the increase was mainly attributable to the 
increase in revenue from digital content distribution 
and exhibitions division, and computer graphic (“CG”) 
creation and production division.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the 
Group’s revenue from digital content distribution 
and exhibitions division, which mainly consisted 
of sales of digital cinema equipment, the relevant 
technical service income and income from equipment 
leasing, amounted to approximately HK$183,862,000, 
increased for approximately 11 times comparing with 
that for the year 2006. this increase was mainly due 
to digital cinema equipment sold for the deployment 
of digital cinema network in the People’s republic 

of China (the “PrC”, for the purpose of this report, 
does not include Hong Kong, macau and taiwan) 
cooperated by China Film Group Corporation (“CFGC”) 
and the Group (the “PrC Digital Cinema Project”) 
during the second half of the year, launch of new 
products, and upgrading digital cinema servers to the 
Digital Cinema initiative (“DCi”) specified JPeG2000 
code with improved security features. the Group’s 
revenue from CG creation and production division 
amounted to approximately HK$51,300,000, increase 
for approximately 69% comparing with that for the 
year 2006, as a result of increase in both works 
from new clients and repeated orders from existing 
clients.

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2007 
amounted to approximately HK$165,544,000 which, 
comparing with that of approximately HK$30,135,000 
for the year 2006, represented an increase of 
approximately 449%.
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the Group made a gross profit of approximately 
HK$80,581,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007, 
representing a gross profit margin of approximately 
33%. Comparing with the gross profit margin of 
approximately 45% for the year 2006, the decrease 
was mainly due to the digital cinema equipment, DCi-
2000 Digital Cinema integrated Projection system, 
sold for the PrC Digital Cinema Project was at a 
lower margin than the other products.

other income for the year ended 31 December 2007 
amounted to approximately HK$14,413,000 (2006: 
HK$1,099,000) mainly represented interest income of 
approximately HK$6,252,000 earned during the year, 
and the waiver of certain interest payable on other 
loan and rental payable amounted to approximately 
HK$4,156,000 and HK$3,228,000, respectively, upon 
entering into settlement agreements with relevant 
parties.

administrat ive expenses for the year ended 31 
December  2007 amounted to  approx imate ly 
HK$99,878,000 (2006: HK$38,365,000), representing 
an increase of approximately 160%. the increase was 
mainly due to recognition of equity-settled share based 
payments of approximately HK$57,402,000 (2006: 
HK$5,937,000) for the share options granted during 
the year, and increase in operating expenses as a 
result of growth in the operations of the Group.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 
2007 amounted to approximately HK$4,002,000 
(2006: HK$13,080,000), representing a decrease 
of approximately 69%. the decrease was mainly 
attributable to both decrease in interest to a fellow 
subsidiary and other related parties of approximately 
HK$6,199,000 and HK$2,626,000, respectively.

the discount on acquisition of additional interest 
in a subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 
2007 amounted to approximately HK$1,342,000 
represented the excess of the Group’s additional 
interest in the fair values of the net assets of GDC 
technology limited (“GDC technology”), a subsidiary 
of the Company, over the cost of the subscription of 
53,388,178 new shares of GDC technology at HK$2 
per share in november 2007.

Gain on di lut ion of interest in a subsidiary of 
approximately HK$40,130,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2007 included ( i )  approximately 
HK$40,295,000 from the gain on dilution of the Group’s 
interest in GDC technology from approximately 83.3% 
to 56.3% of the issued capital of GDC technology 
upon the completion of the subscription of 52,383,580 
shares of GDC technology by a subscriber at a 
consideration of Us$6.5 mill ion (or equivalent to 
approximately HK$50,570,000) in January 2007, 
and (i i ) approximately HK$165,000 from the net 
loss on further dilution of the Group’s interest in 
GDC technology upon exercise of share options of 
GDC technology during the year. With this additional 
funding, digital content distribution and exhibitions 
division has been in a better position to expedite 
the rolling out of its business plan and enhanced its 
research and development activities.

Gain on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary 
of approximately HK$1,795,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2006 mainly represented the gain on 
transfer of 15% interest in GDC technology to its 
management for an aggregate cash consideration of 
HK$1,600,000 during that year.

overall, the Group recorded profit of approximately 
HK$18,302,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2007 attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
when compared with that loss of approximately 
HK$30,245,000 for the year 2006. excluding the 
non-cash expense on recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payments, such adjusted profit for the 
year attributable to equity holders of the Company 
amounted to approximately HK$75,704,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Digital content distribution and exhibitions

Digital content distribution and exhibitions division 
reported a significant improvement for the year ended 
31 December 2007. the majority of the revenue was 
derived from sales of servers, encoders and network 
operation Centre (“noC”) for cinema theatres and 
digital signage, the products were sold worldwide 
including the United states, europe, africa and asia 
markets. the Group also delivered and installed 
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equipment to new 3D digital cinema theatres in 
Hong Kong with its new product - DCi-2000 Digital 
Cinema integrated Projection system. besides, the 
certificate of Hong Kong origin with CePa (Closer 
economic Partnership arrangement) has been issued 
by Hong Kong trade and Development Council for 
DCi-2000 which can exempt the custom duty of DCi-
2000 imported to the PrC. the Group continues to 
be the market leader in asia, in particularly in the 
PrC where it enjoys more than 95% market share 
in digital cinemas in the PrC.

During the year, the Group completed digitalisation 
of a high profile cinema multiplex in the PrC, based 
on the state-of-the-art Digital-Cinema-total-solution 
platform designed ground up by the Group. With the 
Group’s total solution for digital cinema, the cinema 
operator can now display the full array of trailers, 
advertisements and alternative content on both the 
in-foyer displays and in-theatres screens through a 
centrally controlled theater management system that 
in turns is remotely monitored by noC. the various 
display devices can now be programmed from the 
ticketing system to playback all kind of content in 
coherency and up-to-the-last minute media can be 
delivered to all the various display devices connected 
to a central server. the installed system was so 
successful that other high-end cinema multiplexes 
in the PrC and Hong Kong also installed the similar 
system supplied by the Group.

For the Group’s networked digital signage solutions, 
its use is not only limited to cinema multiplex, but also 
apply to other locations, such as shopping malls. Up 

to the date of this report, the Group has delivered 
and installed to more than 10 shopping malls in 
singapore with its digital signage solutions.

in addition, the Group continued to market its products 
through participation in international trade exhibitions, 
such as shoWest 2007, beijing international radio, 
television & Film equipment exhibition (“birtV”) 2007 
and Cineasia 2007, and high profile demonstration 
projects during the year. at the China beijing 5th Digital 
Cinema Forum held on 24 august 2007 during birtV 
where latest updates on digital cinema businesses and 
technologies were presented, the Group presented 
its new sa-2100 Dsrtm Digital Film server capable 
of playing out 3D content. at the Digital Cinema 
Forum, this new sa-2100 server was selected for 
the 3D screenings of the latest 3D Hollywood feature 
film trailers and won the coveted 2007 birtV award 
for outstanding Product. the same sa-2100 server 
can also play out alternative contents such as pre-
show entertainment, on-screen-advertisement and 
HDtV live-events in high quality without the need 
for another server. besides, this all-in-one sa-2100 
server can support stereoscopic 3D playback and 
HDtV live-streaming/recording.

CG creation and production

the Group’s business volume in CG creation and 
production division grew significantly for the year 
ended 31 December 2007 and it was the first time 
for this division to have net profit in its entire history. 
When compared with that for the year 2006, this 
division reported a growth of 69% in revenue and 
103% in gross profit. While the Group received 
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repeated orders from existing clients, the Group also 
won production contract from two new clients. the 
success in expending client base was largely attributed 
to the effective marketing effort and the quality, 
reliability and predictability of the Group’s service, 
which won recognition in the industry. three renowned 
entertainment content distributors in Hollywood have 
respectively committed to distribute nine direct-to-
home movies and three television series produced or 
co-produced by the Group. some of these products 
were already commercially available in the United 
states, australia and europe markets. in addition, 
one theatrical film partially produced by the Group 
was released in europe during the year. at present, 
in addition to domestic business in the PrC, the 
Group expands its customer base to north america, 
europe, asia and the middle east regions. 

the Group’s achievement in exporting CG animation 
services and contents has been recognised by the 
PrC government. the Group was awarded the “Key 
national enterprises for Cultural export 2007-2008” 
jointly by the ministry of Commerce, the ministry of 
Culture, the state administration for radio, Film and 
television (sarFt) and the General administration 
of Press and Publication. such certificate was a 
prestigious endorsement of the Group’s success in 
positioning itself as an active player in the global 
digital entertainment market.

CG training

CG training division served as a core component 
of its strategy towards professionalism. tailored for 
students in the PrC, its training courses focused 
on the basic knowledge of CG production. With the 
best training, highest graduates employment rate 
and comprehensive training materials, the Group 
maintained a leading position in the CG professional 
training domain in the PrC. the Group was highly 
recognised by different departments and players in 
the industry and received several rewards in the PrC, 
including “the top ten CG Production Companies 
in China in 2007” with the first place, “Chinese 
Prospering CG Hero enterprise award 2007”, “most 
Well-received training institute in the Prospering 
Chinese CG industry in 2007” and “advanced Work 
Unit in training for 2007”.

through continued improvement in the management 
system, enhancement in the infrastructure, provision 
of best training environment and focused marketing 
programs, this division recorded steady revenue 
growth of approximately 21% for the year ended 31 
December 2007, comparing with that for the year 
2006.

OUTLOOK

Digital content distribution and exhibitions

many industry observers agree that the conversion 
of film projectors-based analogue cinema to digital 
projector and server based digital cinema will definitely 
take place as different parties in the industry, including 
but not limited to film producers, distributors and 
exhibitors can gain from the digital cinema technology. 
Digital cinema can achieve cost savings, improved 
copyrights protection, greater flexibility to exhibitors 
for the booking of alternative content such as concerts 
and sporting events, new digital 3D contents and 
improved visual and audio qualities. However, less 
than 5% of the world cinemas have converted to 
digital by the end of the year 2007 with approximately 
three quarters of the digital screens in the United 
states. this is largely due to the cost of conversion 
is a multi-billions undertaking.

although the conversion to digital is not much, there 
are a rapidly growing number of cinemas go digital 
recently, especially in the United states because of 
the availability of the sound business model, virtual 
print fees (“VPF”) sponsored by the Hollywood studios 
to finance the conversion of theatres there. During 
the year, intense negotiations for VPF deals were 
conducted resulting a european VPF deal, a company 
in europe signed VPF contracts with f ive major 
Hollywood studios up to the date of this report for its 
roll-out plan of digital cinemas there. the extension 
of VPF to international territories outside the United 
states will facilitate the global conversion and it is 
expected that more VPF deals will be announced in 
the near future.

the Group is of the view that such trend will bring 
ample business opportunities to the Group, which 
is one of the world leading server manufacturers 
and has been actively developing its digital cinema 
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business in recent years. it is expected there will 
be further expansion of the Group’s business in this 
division for the year 2008 and thereafter.

the Group also envisages the conversion of public 
area display systems used for outdoor advertisement 
to digital systems and has developed a digital 
signage server - sDm4000 Dsr™ Display maestro 
in an attempt to capture the potential growth in this 
market. sDm4000’s programmable, networked lCD 
and leD display solutions offer a dynamic, high-
impact medium for the advertising agencies. the 
Group expects revenue from the sales of sDm4000 
will grow significantly in the year 2008.

to capture the potential opportunities, the Group 
successfully strengthened its production facilities in 
shenzhen and Hong Kong in preparation of mass 
production of its products. the initial production 
capacity aimed to produce 250 units per month 
with the aim of ramping up the production to 400 
units in the year 2008. the shenzhen office has also 
started its 24x7 Customer service Center, which 
provides round-the-clock call service for exhibitors 
and monitors the progress of screenings of movies. 
besides, the Group has also set up its office in the 
United states to enhance its service and marketing 
activities there.

in addition, CFGDC Digital Cinema company limited 
(“PrC media JV”), the sino-foreign joint venture with 
CFGC for the deployment of digital cinema network 
and related businesses in the PrC was established 
and its 49% interest was transferred to the Group 
in november 2007. as at 31 December 2007,  
about 450 units of digital cinema equipment were 
purchased for installation to cinemas in all the 27 
provinces in the PrC. the PrC Digital Cinema Project 
would be processed further with an aim to promote 
the digital cinema business in the PrC.

the box office in the PrC increased continuously 
over the past five years at above 25% per annum, 
in accordance to the information provided by sarFt, 
the box office for the year increased by approximately 
27% to approximately rmb3.3 bi l l ion. With the 
blooming economy development and the strong 
domestic consumption in the PrC, it is expected 

the box office in the PrC will increase further in the 
future and the revenue of the PrC Digital Cinema 
Project, which is based on sharing of box office 
receipts with those cinemas using the digital cinema 
equipment for distribution of digital motion pictures, 
will increase accordingly. besides, CFGC and the 
Group have also explored the alternative revenue 
in addition to the share of box office for the PrC 
Digital Cinema Project.

CG creation and production

negotiations for new orders and various partnerships 
for CG creation and production division are underway. 
Considering the value of orders under discussion and 
the clients’ increased trust and dependency on the 
Group and the fact that the Group’s reputation in 
the industry is being enhanced, revenue, eliminating 
seasonal effect, is expected to growth in the foreseeable 
future. it is worth more appreciation that all existing 
clients of the Group have expressed interest or 
commitment to collaborate on new projects with 
the Group.

the market sensibility, production skills, access to 
global distribution channels, and profit generated in 
the past two years formed a solid foundation for the 
Group’s original content creation initiatives. in addition 
to maintaining rapid growth in work-for-hire content 
creation business, the Group is actively developing 
its original content creation business, including in 
the form of co-production and sole investment, a 
CG feature movie co-produced by the Group is 
scheduled to be theatrically released in summer 
2008. the Group also expects to start generating 
iP sales revenue globally through the success of its 
co-produced properties.

this division certainly is in a rapidly growing market 
both domestically and internationally. in order to 
maintain the Group’s leadership posit ion in the 
PrC and siege the market opportunities worldwide, 
the Group will continuously improve its production 
efficiency and creative ability. in order to expand its 
production capacity, the Group will establish another 
studio in the city of Chongqing, it has completed the 
feasibility study and reached mutual understanding with 
the local government on significant business terms 
such as location and government sponsorship.
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Furthermore, with the support of the local municipal 
government, the Group is constructing its headquarters 
building at shenzhen High-tech industrial Park and 
the construction is scheduled to be completed in the 
year 2009. Upon completion, the Group will own the 
most modern, largest ever single building constructed 
and used for the creation of digital entertainment 
content in the PrC, the Group’s production capacity 
and efficiency will enhance further at that time.

CG training

With the encouragement from the PrC government 
on subcontracting foreign CG projects and the 
development of domestic CG and game industries, the 
demand for equipped people in this field increased. 
the aim of the Group to provide vocational training 
and the courses designed by the Group emphasising 
practical skills and including more case studies are 
in line with the market needs and can train up the 
production capability of the students. besides, the 
Group will consider cooperating with the high schools 
and universities and companies in the CG and game 
industries to tailor make some advanced courses for 
their students or employees.

the Group’s training centres in shanghai and shenzhen 
have already certified by the local government to 
be a vocational training centre, and the Group is 
considering the establishment of its third and forth 
training centres in the year 2008, this will strengthen 
the training brand of the Group in the PrC. 

to conclude, the Group wi l l  further expand its 
training network throughout the PrC with shanghai, 
shenzhen and its new training centres as the core 
centers. the Group will also upgrade and strengthen 
its training system, the quality of its teaching staff 
and the graduate employment network, and diversify 
its revenue stream.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL 
RESOURCES

the Group had bank ba lances and cash of 
approximately HK$210.4 million as at 31 December 
2007 (2006: HK$8.6 million) and pledged bank deposit 
of approximately HK$7.8 million as at 31 December 
2007 (2006: nil) which were mainly denominated 
in United states dollars, Hong Kong dollars and 
renminbi. the increase was mainly from net proceeds 
received from the issue of shares by the Company 
and by GDC technology of approximately HK$521.4 
million in total during the year ended 31 December 
2007, netting off with the purchase of intangible asset 
and property, plant and equipment of approximately 
HK$88.6 million and HK$12.8 million, respectively, 
and the repayment of borrowings of approximately 
HK$98.9 million.

as at 31 December 2007, the Group’s borrowings 
amounted to approximately HK$49.4 mil l ion, of 
which were repayable within twelve months from 
31 December 2007. all borrowings bear interest at 
market rates.

Gearing ratio (calculated as borrowings divided by 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company) as 
at 31 December 2007 was approximately 14%. there 
was no gearing ratio presented as at 31 December 
2006 as the Group recorded capital deficiency at 
that moment. as at 31 December 2007, the Group 
has current ratio of approximately 2.7 (2006: 0.2) 
based on current assets of approximately HK$250.5 
million and current liabilities of approximately HK$93.3 
million. the Group’s leverage enhanced significantly 
was mainly attributable to addition funding from issue 
of shares during the year.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

the equity attr ibutable to equity holders of the 
Company amounted to approximately HK$358.0 
million as at 31 December 2007 (2006: a capital 
deficiency of approximately HK$155.0 million). the 
increase was mainly due to (i) net proceeds from 
issue of shares by the Company completed in January 
2007, march 2007, may 2007 and July 2007, details 
of which were set out in respective announcements, 
of approximately HK$471.2 million in total, (ii) profit 
for the year ended 31 December 2007 attributable 
to equity holders of the Company of approximately 
HK$18.3 million, (iii) proceeds from exercise of share 
options of the Company of approximately HK$23.2 
million, (iv) recognition of equity-settled share based 
payments of the Company of approximately HK$41.5 
million, and netting off with (v) special reserve upon 
the Group’s acquisition of additional interest in GDC 
tech of approximately HK$46.4 million.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION, DISPOSALS 
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

other than the dilution of interest in GDC technology, 
acquisition of PrC media JV and acquisition of 
additional interest in GDC technology  as mentioned 
in notes 12, 22 and 39 to the consolidated financial 
statements, respectively, the Group had no material 
acquisitions, disposals and significant investment 
during the year ended 31 December 2007.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

as at 31 December 2007, the Group pledged a deposit 
amounted to approximately HK$7.8 million (2006: nil) 
to a bank to secure a purchase agreement entered 
into with an independent third party. the pledged 
bank deposit will be released upon the settlement 
of the relevant purchase agreement.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Currently, the Group earns revenue in United states 
dollars and renminbi, and incurs costs in United 
states dollars, renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. 
the Directors believe that the Group does not have 
significant foreign exchange exposure. However, if 
necessary, the Group will consider using forward 
exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency 
exposures. as at 31 December 2007, the Group has 
no significant exposure under foreign exchange.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

saved as disclosed in note 47 to the consolidated 
financial statements about litigation proceeding, the 
Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 
31 December 2007.

EMPLOYEES

as at 31 December 2007, the Group employed 
424 (2006: 351) full time employees. the Group 
remunerated its employees mainly with reference to 
the prevailing market practice, individual performance 
and experience. other benefits such as medical 
coverage, insurance plan, mandatory provident fund, 
discretionary bonus and employee share option scheme 
are also available to employee of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard and procedures to safeguard 
the interests of all shareholders and to enhance accountability and transparency.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in 
Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) during the financial year ended 31 
December 2007.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three Independent 
Non-executive Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed “Report of the Directors” of 
this annual report.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and Non-executive Directors so that there is a 
strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

Non-executive Directors are of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry weight. The functions 
of Non-executive Directors include, but not limited to:

• bringing an independent judgement at Board meetings;

• taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

• serving on Board committees if invited; and

• scrutinising the Company’s performance.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each 
other.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the 
Company. The Directors’ biographical information is set out in the section headed “Directors’ Biography” 
of this annual report.

Composition of the Board, including names of Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, is 
disclosed in all corporate communications to shareholders.

Role and function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance monitoring of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”). It delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the Executive Committee 
and senior management within the control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board 
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional meetings would 
be arranged, if and when required. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other means 
of electronic communication in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”).

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of each meeting and each Director may 
request inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14 days notice of a regular Board meeting is 
given and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings. The Company also 
aims at sending the agenda and the accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and 
quality as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed before it, to all Directors 
at least 3 days before the intended date of a Board meeting.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures 
are complied with and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and Board committee meetings, drafts 
and final versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases 
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered 
by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views (if 
any) expressed. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by the Company 
Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director/committee member.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter (including material transaction 
with connected persons) which the Board has determined to be material, a Board meeting will be held 
instead of by way of circulation.

Meeting records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Directors have made active contribution to the affairs 
of the Group and six Board meetings were held to consider, among other things, reviewing and approving 
the quarterly results, interim results and annual results of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Meeting records (Continued)

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2007 are as follows:

 Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Chairman
Cao Zhong 5/6

Executive Directors
Chen Zheng 5/6
Jin Guo Ping 6/6
Lu Yi, Gloria (appointed on 20 September 2007) 1/2
Xu Qing, Catherine (resigned on 1 December 2007) 5/5

Non-executive Director
Leung Shun Sang, Tony 6/6

Independent Non-executive Directors
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 6/6
Bu Fan Xiao 5/6
Hui Hung, Stephen 6/6

Access to information
The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s 
expenses. The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional advice to Directors 
to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management pertaining to matters to be 
brought before the Board for decision as well as reports relating to operational and financial performance 
of the Group before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more information than is volunteered 
by the management, each Director has the right to separately and independently access to the Company’s 
senior management to make further enquiries if necessary.

Appointments and re-election of Directors
Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination 
Committee will review the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, re-nomination and retirement of Directors.

All the Non-executive Directors have formal letters of engagement for a term of three years commencing on 
1 January 2008 setting out the major terms and conditions of their appointment.

According to the Bye-laws, any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a 
casual vacancy, only until the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the case of an addition 
to their number, until the next following annual general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for 
re-election at such general meeting. Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term is subject 
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction of regulatory requirements. The Directors are 
continually updated on the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable statutory 
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practice.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
Pursuant to Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three Independent 
Non-executive Directors. one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of the 
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ and officers’ liability
Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been in force to protect the Directors 
and officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
The roles of Chairman and Managing Director are separate and are not performed by the same individual 
to reinforce their independence and accountability. Mr. Cao Zhong assumes the role of the Chairman and 
Mr. Chen Zheng serves as the Managing Director of the Company. The Chairman provides leadership for 
the Board and overall strategic formulation for the Group. The Managing Director has overall chief executive 
responsibility for the Group’s business development and day-to-day management generally. The division 
of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Managing Director is clearly established and set out in 
writing.

With the support of Executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that 
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable 
information in a timely manner.

BOARD COMMITTEE
The Board has established the following committees to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs 
and to assist in the execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their own terms of reference. 
All resolutions passed by the committees will be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.

executive Committee
An Executive Committee of the Board was established and comprises all Executive Directors of the 
Company.

As at 31 December 2007, the members of the Executive Committee were as follows:

• Cao Zhong (Chairman)
• Chen Zheng
• Jin Guo Ping
• Lu Yi, Gloria

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general powers of the Board (except those matters 
specifically reserved for the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group. The Executive 
Committee meets as and when required. During the year, one meeting of the Executive Committee was 
held.



Corporate Governance Report

26

BOARD COMMITTEE (Continued)

Audit Committee

An Audit Committee of the Board was established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on request and 
are posted on the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things:

• overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor;

• reviewing the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements; and

• reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity within its terms of reference and the 
authority to obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given 
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources to discharge its duties properly.

The Audit Committee comprised three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. None of the 
members of the Audit Committee are former partners of the auditor of the Company. The members of the 
Audit Committee during the year and their attendance were as follows:–

 Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Kwong Che Keung, Gordon (Chairman) 4/4
Bu Fan Xiao 3/4
Hui Hung, Stephen 4/4  

During the year, four meetings of the Audit Committee were held for, amongst other things, reviewing:

• the final results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2006;

• the quarterly results of the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2007;

• the interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2007; and

• the quarterly results of the Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2007.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, 
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (Continued)

nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with specific written terms of reference which deal 
clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on 
request and are posted on the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

• reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

• identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or making recommendations 
to the Board;

• making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment and re-appointment 
of Directors and succession planning for Directors; and

• assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Nomination Committee 
for consideration. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be tendered to the Board for 
approval. In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will take into account the 
qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates. In determining 
the independence of Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the employees 
within its scope of duties and the authority to obtain outside independent professional advice if it considers 
necessary.

The members of the Nomination Committee during the year and their attendance were as follows:–

 Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Cao Zhong (Chairman) (appointed on 3 January 2007) 1/1
Leung Shun Sang, Tony (Vice Chairman) (appointed on 3 January 2007) 1/1
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 1/1
Bu Fan Xiao 0/1
Hui Hung, Stephen 1/1  

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company constitute the majority of the committee.

During the year, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for considering the nomination of Ms. 
Lu Yi, Gloria as a Director of the Company and the changes of titles of the Executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of reference which deal 
clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available 
on request and are posted on the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

• making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of 
Directors and senior management of the Group;

• reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration;

• determining the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior management and 
making recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

• reviewing and approving the compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management and 
the compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

• ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their proposals relating to the remuneration 
of other Executive Directors. It has explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the employees 
within its scope of duties and the authority to obtain outside independent professional advice if it considers 
necessary.

The remuneration policies for the Company as well as the Directors are market alignment and reward for 
performance. The Company reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration of the 
market practice, competitive market position and individual performance.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year and their attendance were as follows:–

 Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Leung Shun Sang, Tony (Chairman) 5/5
Cao Zhong (Vice Chairman) 3/5
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 5/5
Bu Fan Xiao 2/5
Hui Hung, Stephen 5/5  

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company constitute the majority of the committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, five meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held for, amongst other things:

• reviewing the remuneration policies of the Company and the remuneration and terms of service contracts 
of the Executive Directors of the Company;

• determining the bonuses of the Executive Directors of the Company for the years 2006 and 2007; 
and

• making recommendations to the Board on the terms of engagement letters of the Non-executive 
Directors of the Company and their directors’ fees for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is of the opinion that sound internal control systems will contribute to the effectiveness and 
efficiency of operations of the Group and to the safeguard of the Group’s assets as well as the shareholders’ 
investment.

The Board is responsible for overall ensuring, maintaining and overseeing the internal control systems of the 
Group. The Executive Committee helps the Board to discharge its responsibilities of ensuring and maintaining 
sound internal control functions by regularly and continuously reviewing and monitoring the internal control 
systems and processes so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable assurance against material errors 
of the Group.

The internal control system is embedded within the business processes so that it functions as an integral 
part of the overall operations of the Group. The system comprises a comprehensive organization structure 
with assignment of definite accountabilities and delegation of the corresponding authorities to each post. 
Based on the organization structure, a reporting system has been developed which includes a reporting 
system from division head of each principal business unit to the Executive Committee.

Business plan and budget are prepared by the division head of each principal business unit annually. In 
preparing the business plans and budgets, the management identifies and evaluates any potential risks. 
Measures will be put in place with an aim to ultimately manage, control or eliminate such risks.

The business plans and budgets are subject to review and approval by the Executive Committee. The 
Executive Committee reviews monthly management report on the operational and financial results of each 
principal business unit and measures the actual performance of the Group against the business plan and 
budget concerned. In this course, the Executive Committee also reviews and assesses the effectiveness of 
all material controls. The Executive Committee holds periodical meetings with the senior management of 
each principal business unit and the finance team to, amongst other matters, address the issues in such 
controls, identify areas of improvement and put the appropriate measures in place.

The internal control system is documented and if any revision is required, such information will be submitted 
to the Audit Committee for evaluation.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

Internal control system
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The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfill its oversight role over the Group’s internal control function by 
reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the overall internal control systems. The Company has set up 
an Internal Audit Department which assists the Audit Committee to discharge its duties in this aspect. The 
Internal Audit Department, which is independent to the operational departments of the Group, is responsible 
for conducting regular audits on the major activities of the Group. Its objective is to ensure that all material 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as well as risk management, are in place 
and functioning effectively. The Internal Audit Department reports to the Audit Committee with its findings 
and make recommendations to improve the internal control systems of the Group.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

Internal audit functions
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The Board considers that it is an ongoing and continuous process for the Group to review and improve its 
internal control systems in order to ensure that they can meet with the dynamic and ever changing business 
environment. During the year under review, the Board has been, through the Executive Committee and 
the Audit Committee (with the assistance from the Internal Audit Department), continuously reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms 
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with the required standard of 
dealings and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the 
year ended 31 December 2007.

Employees who are deemed to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the 
Company or its shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of the Company during the black-out 
period.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set 
out as follows:

 Fee paid/payable
Services rendered HK$’000

Statutory audit services 1,638

Non-statutory audit services:
 Review on interim financial report 253
 Special audit services 513

 2,404

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial statements of the Group which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and in presenting the quarterly, 
interim and annual financial statements, announcements and other financial disclosure required under the 
GEM Listing Rules, the Directors aim to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, about its reporting 
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on 
pages 48 to 49 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

To foster effective communications with the shareholders, the Company provides extensive information in 
its annual, interim and quarterly reports and announcements. All shareholders’ communications are also 
available on the Company’s website at www.gdc-world.com.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views 
with the Board. All Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor is also available at the annual 
general meeting to address shareholders’ queries. In case of any general meeting to approve a connected 
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent shareholders’ approval, members of the 
independent Board committee will also make an effort to attend to address shareholders’ queries.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the 
election of individual Directors.

Details of the poll voting procedures and rights of shareholders to demand a poll are included in the Company’s 
circulars convening a general meeting. The chairman of a general meeting also explains the procedures for 
demanding and conducting a poll before putting a resolution to the vote on a show of hands and (except 
where a poll is demanded) reveals how many proxies for and against have been filed in respect of each 
resolution. The results of the poll, if any, will be published on the GEM’s and Company’s websites.
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Report of the Directors

the Directors herein present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

the principal activity of the Company is investment holding. the activities of its principal subsidiaries and 
associate are set out in notes 46 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the state of affairs of the Group at that 
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 113.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

a summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial 
years is set out on page 114 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 
18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the Consolidated statement 
of Changes in equity on pages 53 to 54 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

the Directors of the Company during the year were as follows:

Cao Zhong
Chen Zheng
Jin Guo Ping
lu Yi, Gloria (appointed on 20 September 2007)
leung shun sang, tony
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon*
bu Fan Xiao*
Hui Hung, stephen*
Xu Qing, Catherine (resigned on 1 December 2007)

* Independent Non-executive Directors
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

in accordance with clauses 86(2) and 87(2) of the Company’s bye-laws, ms. lu Yi, Gloria, mr. leung shun 
sang, tony, Professor bu Fan Xiao and mr. Hui Hung, stephen will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation 
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

the Directors of the Company who held office at 31 December 2007 had the following interests in the shares 
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
securities and Futures ordinance (the “sFo”)) at the balance sheet date as recorded in the register required 
to be kept under section 352 of the sFo or as otherwise notified to the Company and stock exchange 
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as referred to in rule 5.46 of the Gem listing 
rules:

(a) long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

   Total interests
 Number of shares/underlying shares   as to % to the
 held in the Company  issued share
   Interests  capital of the
 Capacity in which  Interests under equity Total Company as at
Name of Director interests are held in shares derivatives* interests 31.12.2007

Cao Zhong beneficial owner 8,008,200 4,900,000 12,908,200 1.00%
Chen Zheng beneficial owner 8,008,200 4,900,000 12,908,200 1.00%
Jin Guo Ping beneficial owner – 8,008,200 8,008,200 0.62%
lu Yi, Gloria beneficial owner – 12,000,000 12,000,000 0.93%
leung shun sang, tony beneficial owner 8,008,200 4,900,000 12,908,200 1.00%
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon beneficial owner 800,820 490,000 1,290,820 0.10%
bu Fan Xiao beneficial owner – 1,290,820 1,290,820 0.10%
Hui Hung, stephen beneficial owner 800,820 490,000 1,290,820 0.10%

* The relevant interests are unlisted physically settled options granted pursuant to the Company’s share option 
scheme adopted on 18 July 2003 (the “Scheme”). Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with 
the Scheme, ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company are issuable. The share 
options are personal to the respective Directors. Further details of the share options are set out in the section 
headed “Share Option Schemes” below.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(b) long positions in the shares and underlying shares of Shougang Concord Grand (Group) 
limited (“Shougang Grand”), an associated corporation of the Company

   Total interests
   as to % to the
 Number of shares/underlying shares   issued share
 held in Shougang Grand  capital of 
   Interests  Shougang
 Capacity in which  Interests under equity Total  Grand as at
Name of Director interests are held in shares derivatives* interests 31.12.2007

Cao Zhong beneficial owner – 11,368,000 11,368,000 0.99%
Chen Zheng beneficial owner – 11,368,000 11,368,000 0.99%
leung shun sang, tony beneficial owner 8,278,000 11,368,679 19,646,679 1.71%

* The relevant interests are unlisted physically settled options granted pursuant to Shougang Grand’s share 
option scheme adopted on 7 June 2002 (the “Shougang Grand Scheme”). Upon exercise of the share options 
in accordance with the Shougang Grand Scheme, ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of 
Shougang Grand are issuable. The share options are personal to the respective Directors.

(c) long positions in the shares and underlying shares of GDC technology limited (“GDC 
tech”), an associated corporation of the Company

   Total interests
   as to % to the
 Number of shares/underlying shares   issued share
 held in GDC Tech  capital of 
   Interests  GDC Tech
 Capacity in which  Interests under equity Total   as at
Name of Director interests are held in shares derivatives* interests 31.12.2007

Cao Zhong beneficial owner 8,533,334 1,650,000 10,183,334 4.38%
Chen Zheng beneficial owner 8,533,334 1,650,000 10,183,334 4.38%
lu Yi, Gloria beneficial owner – 12,000,000 12,000,000 5.16%
leung shun sang, tony beneficial owner 2,130,000 1,653,333 3,783,333 1.63%
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon beneficial owner 1,706,667 165,000 1,871,667 0.80%
bu Fan Xiao beneficial owner – 165,000 165,000 0.07%
Hui Hung, stephen beneficial owner – 165,000 165,000 0.07%

* The relevant interests are unlisted physically settled options granted pursuant to GDC Tech’s share option 
scheme adopted on 19 September 2006 (the “GDC Tech Scheme”). Upon exercise of the share options in 
accordance with the GDC Tech Scheme, ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of GDC Tech 
are issuable. The share options are personal to the respective Directors. Further details of the share options 
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” below.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(c) long positions in the shares and underlying shares of GDC technology limited (“GDC 
tech”), an associated corporation of the Company (Continued)

save as disclosed above, at the balance sheet date, none of the Company’s Directors, chief executives or 
their respective associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other interests or short positions 
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the sFo) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of 
the sFo or as otherwise notified to the Company and the stock exchange as referred to in rule 5.46 of 
the Gem listing rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
apart from as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief executives’ interests and short Positions 
in shares, Underlying shares and Debentures” and “share option schemes” herein, at no time during the year 
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s Directors 
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected transactions and Continuing Connected transactions” 
herein, no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in 
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
Pursuant to rule 11.04 of the Gem listing rules, the following Directors have declared interests in the 
following businesses (other than those businesses where the Directors of the Company were appointed as 
directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or any member of the Group) which are considered 
to compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during 
the year:

 Name of entity 
 whose businesses
 are considered to Description of businesses
 compete or likely of the entity which are
 to compete with considered to compete Nature of interest
 the businesses or likely to compete with of the Director
Name of Director of the Group the businesses of the Group in the entity

Cao Zhong shougang Grand# Cultural recreation Vice chairman and 
   content provision∆   managing director

Chen Zheng shougang Grand# Cultural recreation managing director of
   content provision∆  operations

leung shun sang, tony shougang Grand# Cultural recreation Director
   content provision∆

# Shougang Grand indirectly held approximately 50.76% interests in the Company as at 31 December 2007.

∆ Such businesses may be carr ied out through its subsidiaries or associates or by way of other forms of 
investments.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES (Continued)

the board of Directors of the Company is independent from the boards of the above-mentioned entities and 
is accountable to the Company’s shareholders. Coupled with the diligence of its independent non-executive 
Directors whose views carry significant weight in the board’s decisions, the Group is capable of carrying on 
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of these entities.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE 
UNDER THE SFO

at the balance sheet date, according to the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the sFo, 
the following companies and persons had long positions of 5% or more in the shares or underlying shares of 
the Company which fell to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the sFo:

long positions in the shares of the Company
   Interests as to % to
   the total issued
   share capital of 
 Capacity in which Number of shares the Company as
Name of shareholder interests are held  held in the Company at 31.12.2007

shougang Holding (Hong Kong) limited interests of controlled 656,790,023 50.71%
 (“shougang Holding”)  corporations (Note)

Wheeling Holdings limited (“Wheeling”) interests of controlled 656,790,023 50.71%
  corporations (Note)

shougang Grand interests of controlled 656,790,023 50.71%
  corporations (Note)

sCG investment (bVi) limited interests of controlled 656,790,023 50.71%
 (“sCG investment”)  corporations (Note)

Grand Phoenix limited interests of controlled 656,360,023 50.67%
 (“Grand Phoenix”)  corporations (Note)

Upper nice assets ltd. beneficial owner 656,360,023 50.67%
 (“Upper nice”)  (Note)

Keywise Capital management investment manager 97,842,000 7.55%
 (HK) limited
  
Keywise Greater China beneficial owner 69,474,000 5.36%
 opportunities master Fund
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE 
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

long positions in the shares of the Company (Continued)
Note: Upper nice was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Grand Phoenix and its interest was included in the interests held 

by Grand Phoenix.

Grand Phoenix was a wholly-owned subsidiary of sCG investment and its interest was included in the interests 
held by sCG investment.

sCG investment was a wholly-owned subsidiary of shougang Grand and its interest was included in the interests 
held by shougang Grand.

shougang Grand was held as to approximately 37.42% by Wheeling and its interest was included in the interests 
held by Wheeling.

Wheeling was a wholly-owned subsidiary of shougang Holding and its interest was included in the interests held 
by shougang Holding.

save as disclosed above, at the balance sheet date, the Company has not been notified of any other person 
(other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position of 5% 
or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which fell to be disclosed to the Company 
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the sFo.

PUBLIC FLOAT

based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors 
of the Company, there is a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the Gem 
listing rules as at the date of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

on 18 July 2003, the scheme which complies with the requirements of Chapter 23 of the Gem listing 
rules was adopted by the shareholders of the Company.

the purpose of the scheme is to enable the Company to grant share options to eligible participants as 
rewards for their contributions to the Group. the scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years 
commencing on 4 august 2003, being the date on which dealings in the shares of the Company first 
commenced on the Gem, to 3 august 2013.

Under the scheme, the Directors of the Company may, at their discretion, offer any full-time employees, 
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) and part-time employees with weekly working 
hours of 10 hours and above, of the Group and any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant, 
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers, joint venture partners, service providers to the Group who 
the Directors of the Company consider, in their sole discretion, have contributed or contribution to the 
Group, share options to subscribe for share of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

the total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share 
options granted under the scheme is 55,722,840 which represents approximately 4.30% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report. the maximum number of shares of 
the Company available for issue upon exercise of all share options which may be granted under the 
scheme is 81,909,550, representing approximately 6.32% of the issued share capital of the Company 
as at the date of this annual report. the total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued 
upon the exercise of share options granted under the scheme (including both exercised and outstanding 
share options) to each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% 
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of grant. any further grant of share options 
in excess of this limit is subject to approval of shareholders of the Company and shougang Grand 
respectively in general meeting. share options granted to a director, chief executive, management or 
substantial shareholder of the Company or shougang Grand, or to any of their respective associates, 
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the Company and/or 
shougang Grand. in addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent 
non-executive director of the Company or shougang Grand, or to any of their respective associates, 
in excess of in aggregate 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue (based on the date of offer) 
and an aggregate value of HK$5 million (based on the closing price of the shares of the Company at 
the date of each offer), within any 12-month period, are subject to approval of the shareholders of the 
Company and/or shougang Grand in advance in general meeting.

the period during which a share option may be exercised will be determined by the Directors of the 
Company at their absolute discretion, save that no share option may be exercised more than 10 years 
after it has been granted under the scheme. there is no requirement that a share option must be held 
for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Directors of the Company are empowered 
to impose at their discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any share options.

the exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined by the Directors of the Company 
at their absolute discretion and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the official closing price of 
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the stock exchange on the date 
of offer of share options; (ii) the average of the official closing prices of the shares of the Company 
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the stock exchange for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of offer of share options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on 
the date of offer of share options. each of the grantees is required to pay HK$1 as consideration for 
the grant of share options in accordance with the scheme. the offer of a grant of share options must 
be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

no share option was cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme during the year. 
Details of movement in the share options under the scheme during the year were as follows:

Options to subscribe for shares of the Company
 At the Granted Exercised    Exercise
Category or beginning during during At the end Date of  price
name of grantees of the year the year1 & 2 the year3 of the year grant Exercise period per share

Directors of the Company
 Cao Zhong 8,008,200 – (8,008,200) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 4,900,000 – 4,900,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 8,008,200 4,900,000 (8,008,200) 4,900,000

 Chen Zheng 8,008,200 – (8,008,200) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 4,900,000 – 4,900,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 8,008,200 4,900,000 (8,008,200) 4,900,000

 Jin Guo Ping 8,008,200 – – 8,008,200 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 Xu Qing, Catherine4 8,008,200 – (8,008,200) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 lu Yi, Gloria – 12,000,000 – 12,000,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75
 leung shun sang, tony 8,008,200 – (8,008,200) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 4,900,000 – 4,900,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 8,008,200 4,900,000 (8,008,200) 4,900,000

 Kwong Che Keung,  800,820 – (800,820) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
  Gordon – 490,000 – 490,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 800,820 490,000 (800,820) 490,000

 bu Fan Xiao 800,820 – – 800,820 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 490,000 – 490,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 800,820 490,000 – 1,290,820

 Hui Hung, stephen 800,820 – (800,820) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 490,000 – 490,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 800,820 490,000 (800,820) 490,000

 42,443,460 28,170,000 (33,634,440) 36,979,020

Employees of the Group
 14,200,000 – (14,200,000) – 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 3,000,000 (700,000) 2,300,000 22.03.2007 22.03.2007 – 21.03.2010 HK$1.07
 – 2,890,000 (628,000) 2,262,000 04.04.2007 04.04.2007 – 03.04.2010 HK$1.52
 – 9,900,000 – 9,900,000 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – 29.10.2012 HK$2.75

 14,200,000 15,790,000 (15,528,000) 14,462,000

Other Participants
 13,204,920 – (10,704,100) 2,500,820 06.10.2006 06.10.2006 – 05.10.2009 HK$0.30
 – 4,340,000 (2,559,000) 1,781,000 04.04.2007 04.04.2007 – 03.04.2010 HK$1.52

 13,204,920 4,340,000 (13,263,100) 4,281,820

 69,848,380 48,300,000 (62,425,540) 55,722,840
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. the closing prices of the shares of the Company immediately before the dates on which the share options 
were granted on 22 march 2007, 4 april 2007 and 30 october 2007 were HK$1.06 per share, HK$1.56 per 
share and HK$2.68 per share, respectively.

2. the fair values of the options of which at the dates of grant on 22 march 2007, 4 april 2007 and 30 october 
2007 were HK$0.58, HK$0.86 and HK$0.88 respectively. these fair values were calculated using the binominal 
option Valuation pricing model. the inputs into the model were as follows:

 Granted on Granted on Granted on
 22 March 2007 4 April 2007 30 October 2007

Weighted average share price HK$1.07 HK$1.52 HK$2.70
exercise price HK$1.07 HK$1.52 HK$2.75
expected volatility 89% 97% 68%
expected life 3 years 3 years 5 years
risk-free rate 3.88% 3.89% 3.49%
expected dividend yield nil nil nil

expected volatility were determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the 
previous 3 years and 5 years (as the case may be). the expected lives used in the model have been adjusted, 
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral 
considerations. the value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

the Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$41,488,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2007 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

3. the weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the dates on which the 
share options were exercised was HK$2.13 per share.

4. Dr. Xu Qing, Catherine resigned as a Director of the Company on 1 December 2007.

(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company – GDC tech

the Company and shougang Grand have adopted the GDC tech scheme by a shareholders’ resolution 
passed at their respective special general meetings held on 19 september 2006.

the purpose of the GDC tech scheme is to enable GDC tech to grant options to eligible participants 
as rewards for their contributions to GDC tech, its subsidiaries and its holding companies (including 
intermediate and ultimate holding companies) (the “GDC tech Group”). the GDC tech scheme will 
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing on 19 september 2006, being the date of adoption 
of the GDC tech scheme, to 18 september 2016.

Under the GDC tech scheme, the directors of GDC tech may, at their discretion, offer any full-time or 
part-time employees, executives, officers and directors (including non-executive directors and independent 
non-executive directors) of the GDC tech Group and any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers 
and agents to the GDC tech Group and such other persons who the directors of GDC tech consider, 
in their sole discretion, will contribute or have contributed to the GDC tech Group, share options to 
subscribe for shares of GDC tech.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company – GDC tech (Continued)

the total number of shares of GDC tech which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share 
options granted under the GDC tech scheme is 24,834,998 which represents approximately 10.68% 
of the issued share capital of GDC tech as at the date of this annual report. the maximum number of 
shares of GDC tech available for issue upon exercise of all share options which may be granted under 
the GDC tech scheme is 9,023,024, representing approximately 3.88% of the issued share capital 
of GDC tech as at the date of this annual report. the total number of shares of GDC tech issued 
and to be issued upon the exercise of share options granted under the GDC tech scheme (including 
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee in any 12-month period up to the 
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of GDC tech as at the date of grant. 
any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to approval of shareholders of the 
Company and shougang Grand respectively in general meeting. share options granted to a director, 
chief executive, management or substantial shareholder of the Company or shougang Grand, or to any 
of their respective associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 
directors of the Company and/or shougang Grand. in addition, any share options granted to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company or shougang Grand, or to any of 
their respective associates, in excess of in aggregate 0.1% of the shares of GDC tech in issue (based 
on the date of offer) within any 12-month period, are subject to approval of the shareholders of the 
Company and/or shougang Grand in advance in general meeting.

the period during which a share option may be exercised will be determined by the directors of GDC 
tech at their absolute discretion, save that no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after 
it has been granted under the GDC tech scheme. there is no requirement that a share option must be 
held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the directors of GDC tech are empowered 
to impose at their discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any share options.

the exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined by the directors of GDC tech at 
their absolute discretion and shall not be less than the nominal value of a share of GDC tech and shall 
be subject to the approval of the board of directors of the Company or any committee duly constituted 
thereof. each of the grantees is required to pay HK$1 as consideration for the grant of share options 
in accordance with the GDC tech scheme. the offer of a grant of share options must be accepted 
within 30 days from the date of the offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company – GDC tech (Continued)

no share option was cancelled in accordance with the terms of the GDC tech scheme during the 
year. Details of movement in the share options under the GDC tech scheme during the year were as 
follows:

Options to subscribe for shares of GDC Tech
 At the Granted Exercised Lapsed    Exercise
Category or beginning during during during At the end Date of  price
name of grantees of the year the year1 the year the  year of the year grant Exercise period per share

Directors of the Company
 Cao Zhong 4,266,6672 – (4,266,667) – – 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145
 – 1,650,000 – – 1,650,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 4,266,667 1,650,000 (4,266,667) – 1,650,000

 Chen Zheng 4,266,6672 – (4,266,667) – – 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145
 – 1,650,000 – – 1,650,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 4,266,667 1,650,000 (4,266,667) – 1,650,000

 Xu Qing, Catherine5 320,000 – (320,000) – – 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145
 lu Yi, Gloria – 12,000,0003 – – 12,000,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00
 leung shun sang, tony 3,3332 – – – 3,333 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145
 – 1,650,000 – – 1,650,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 3,333 1,650,000 – – 1,653,333

 Kwong Che Keung, 1,706,6672 – (1,706,667) – – 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145
  Gordon – 165,000 – – 165,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 1,706,667 165,000 (1,706,667) – 165,000

 bu Fan Xiao – 165,000 – – 165,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00
 Hui Hung, stephen – 165,000 – – 165,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 10,563,334 17,445,000 (10,560,001) – 17,448,333

Other individual with
 options granted
 in excess of limit
 Chong man nang 7,466,6662 – (7,466,666) – – 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145

Employees of the Group 5,313,332 – – (750,000)4 4,563,332 05.10.2006 05.10.2006 – 04.10.2009 HK$0.145
 – 1,650,000 – – 1,650,000 02.11.2007 02.11.2007 – 01.11.2012 HK$2.00

 5,313,332 1,650,000 – (750,000) 6,213,332

Other Participants 1,173,333 – – – 1,173,333 29.09.2006 29.09.2006 – 28.09.2009 HK$0.145

 24,516,665 19,095,000 (18,026,667) (750,000) 24,834,998
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company – GDC tech (Continued)

Note:

1. the fair value per option of which at the date of grant was HK$0.83. this fair value was calculated using the 
binominal option Valuation pricing model. the inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$2.34
exercise price HK$2.00
expected volatility 51%
expected life 5 years
risk-free rate 3.34%
expected dividend yield nil

expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the share price of other companies in 
the similar industry of GDC tech over the previous 5 years. the expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on GDC tech management’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioral considerations. the value of an option varies with different variables of certain 
subjective assumptions.

the Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$15,914,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2007 in relation to share options granted by GDC tech.

2. the number of share options granted to mr. Cao Zhong, mr. Chen Zheng, mr. leung shun sang, tony, mr. 
Kwong Che Keung, Gordon and Dr. Chong man nang on 29 september 2006 each exceeded the individual 
limit of 1% of the shares of GDC tech then in issue and were approved by the shareholders of the Company 
and shougang Grand on 19 september 2006 respectively.

3. the number of share options granted to ms. lu Yi, Gloria on 2 november 2007 exceeded the individual limit 
of 1% of the shares of GDC tech then in issue and was approved by the shareholders of the Company and 
shougang Grand on 30 october 2007 respectively.

4. the share options were held by four grantees who ceased to be employees of the Group during the year 
and such share options were lapsed on 3 January 2007, 5 may 2007, 11 may 2007 and 10 June 2007 
respectively.

5. Dr. Xu Qing, Catherine resigned as a Director of the Company on 1 December 2007.

PURCHASE,  SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S L ISTED 
SECURITIES

neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities (whether on the stock exchange or otherwise) during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

there are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of bermuda which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

at the balance sheet date, the Company had no reserves available for distribution.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

in the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 73% 
of the revenue for the year and the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 66%. 
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 81% of the cost of sales for 
the year. save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any 
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share 
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

C O N N E C T E D  T R A N S A C T I O N S  A N D  C O N T I N U I N G  C O N N E C T E D 
TRANSACTIONS

the following connected transactions and continuing connected transactions were announced during the 
year and up to the date of this annual report:

I. Connected transactions during the year

(a) on 16 march 2007, a subscription agreement (the “subscription agreement”) was entered into 
between Upper nice and the Company. Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Upper nice has 
conditionally agreed to subscribe 100,000,000 new shares of the Company at HK$0.54 per share 
(the “subscription”) for an aggregate consideration of HK$54,000,000.

as at the date of the subscription agreement, Upper nice was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of shougang Grand, the substantial shareholder of the Company. as such, shougang Grand was 
a connected person under the Gem listing rules. at completion of the subscription, shougang 
Grand held approximately 70.65% of the issued share capital of the Company. it would be in 
the interest of the Company to raise funds for the projects of the Group and as general working 
capital and for the repayment of loans while broaden the shareholders’ base and the capital base 
of the Company. the net proceeds of approximately HK$53,600,000 of the subscription would 
be utilized for the deployment of digital cinema network project in the PrC and for repayment of 
loans and as general working capital of the Group. the subscription agreement was approved 
by the independent shareholders on 23 april 2007 and the subscription was completed on 2 
may 2007.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

I. Connected transactions during the year (Continued)

(b) on 14 august 2007, an agreement (the “agreement”) was entered into between shougang Holding 
and GDC Holdings limited (“GDC Holdings”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant 
to the agreement, GDC Holdings agreed to acquire 100% interest of the issued share capital 
of shougang GDC media Holding limited (“shougang GDC media”) from shougang Holding for 
a consideration of HK$42,000,000, which payable as to HK$41,500,000 as deposit within one 
month from the date of the agreement and as to HK$500,000 at completion. the sole asset 
of shougang GDC media was its 49% interest in 中影首鋼環球數碼數字影院建設（北京）有限公司 
(“PrC media JV”), which was principally engaged in the deployment of digital cinema network and 
related businesses in the PrC. shougang Holding undertook that the deposit would be injected 
into shougang GDC media as interest-free shareholders’ loan, which would be assigned to GDC 
Holdings at completion at nil consideration.

as at the date of the agreement, shougang Holding held an approximately 40.45% interest in 
shougang Grand, which in turn, held approximately 50.76% interest in the Company. as such, 
shougang Holding was a connected person under the Gem listing rules. at completion of the said 
acquisition, shougang GDC media became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and PrC 
media JV became an indirect 49% owned associate of the Company. it would enable the Company 
to take a further step to participate in the deployment of digital cinema business in the PrC by 
participating in the operation of PrC media JV. the agreement was approved by the independent 
shareholders on 30 october 2007 and the acquisition was completed on 2 november 2007.

II. Continuing connected transactions during the year

as stated in the announcement of the Company dated 12 april 2007, a master supply agreement (the 
“master supply agreement”) was entered into between GDC tech and shougang Grand on 11 april 
2007. Pursuant to the master supply agreement, GDC tech agreed to supply shougang Grand and/or 
its associates with digital cinema equipment and network management and other related equipment 
and services. the annual cap amounts of the transactions contemplated under the master supply 
agreement for each of the period ended 31 December 2007 and the two financial years ending 31 
December 2009 will not exceed Us$103,000,000, Us$104,500,000 and Us$106,000,000, respectively. 
the sales were for the purpose of developing the digital cinema business, pursuant to the co-operation 
with China Film Group Corporation and the Group. the master supply agreement and the relevant cap 
amounts were approved by the independent shareholders of the Company and shougang Grand on 6 
June 2007, respectively.

the above continuing connected transactions which took place during the year have been reviewed by 
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company who have confirmed that:

(1) the transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the relevant 
members of the Group;
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

II. Continuing connected transactions during the year (Continued)

(2) the transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms, or if there is no available comparison, 
on terms that are no less favourable than terms available to or from (as the case may be) independent 
third parties; and

(3) the transactions were entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the 
Company as a whole.

as far as the transactions set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements under the heading of 
“related Party transactions” are concerned, the transactions as set out in notes (a) and (b) were connected 
transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under the Gem 
listing rules. the remaining transactions which took place during the year as set out under the heading of 
“related Party transactions” did not constitute connected transactions under the Gem listing rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance report on pages 
22 to 32 of this annual report.

AUDITOR
messrs. Deloitte touche tohmatsu was appointed as auditor of the Company in place of messrs. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers upon their resignation on 4 march 2005. a resolution will be submitted to the 
forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint messrs. Deloitte touche tohmatsu as auditor of the 
Company.

by order of the board
Cao Zhong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 march 2008



48

Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GLOBAL DIGITAL CREATIONS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 50 to 113, which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESpONSIBILITy fOR THE CONSOLIDATED fINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AuDITOR’S RESpONSIBILITy

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and 
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for 
the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

OpINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
20 march 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

	
	 	 2007		 2006
	 Notes	 HK$’000		 HK$’000

Revenue	 7	 246,125		 54,920
Cost	of	sales	 	 (165,544	)	 (30,135	)

Gross	profit	 	 80,581		 24,785
Other	 income	 10	 14,413		 1,099
Distribution	costs	and	selling	expenses	 	 (7,720	)	 (6,479	)
Administrative	expenses	 	 (99,878	)	 (38,365	)
Finance	costs	 11	 (4,002	)	 (13,080	)
Share	of	 loss	of	an	associate	 	 (298	)	 –
Discount	on	acquisition	of	additional	 interest	 in
	 a	subsidiary	 39	 1,342		 –
Gain	on	dilution	of	 interest	 in	a	subsidiary	 12	 40,130		 –
Gain	on	disposal	of	partial	 interest	 in	a	subsidiary	 13	 –		 1,795

Profit	 (loss)	before	 tax	 	 24,568		 (30,245	)
Income	 tax	expense	 14	 (3,099	)	 –

Profit	 (loss)	 for	 the	year	 15	 21,469		 (30,245	)

Attributable	 to:
	 Equity	holders	of	 the	Company	 	 18,302		 (30,245	)
	 Minority	 interests	 	 3,167		 –

	 	 21,469		 (30,245	)

	 	 HK	cents		 HK	cents

Earnings	 (loss)	per	share	 17
	 Basic	 	 1.62		 (3.78	)

	 Diluted	 	 1.57		 N/A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2007

 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18 14,780  4,868
intangible asset 19 221,545  –
available-for-sale investment 20 –  –
Prepaid lease payments 21 5,612  –
interest in an associate 22 424  –
advance paid for acquisition of intangible asset  35,581  –

  277,942  4,868

Current assets
inventories 23 6,761  2,469
Production work in progress 24 –  –
amounts due from customers for contract work 25 1,494  808
trade receivables 26 11,502  6,080
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  11,434  3,680
Prepaid lease payments 21 114  –
amount due from an associate 27 1,053  –
Pledged bank deposit 28 7,800  –
bank balances and cash 28 210,377  8,596

  250,535  21,633

Current liabilities
income received in advance  10,189  6,701
amounts due to customers for contract work 25 1,440  1,850
trade payables 29 4,197  2,838
other payables and accruals  18,596  29,288
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 30 2,553  12,284
amounts due to directors 30 2,912  2,308
amount due to a shareholder 31 –  339
amounts due to other related parties 32 877  1,501
tax liabilities  3,099  –
loans from other related parties 33 –  1,209
loan from a fellow subsidiary – due within one year 34 35,000  –
obligations under finance leases – due within one year 35 525  1,484
secured bank borrowing – due within one year 36 13,898  10,000
other loan 37 –  18,295

  93,286  88,097

Net current assets (liabilities)  157,249  (66,464 )

Total assets less current liabilities  435,191  (61,596 )
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2007

 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
loan from a fellow subsidiary – due after one year 34 –  92,169
obligations under finance leases – due after one year 35 –  489
amount due to other related party – due after one year 32 –  455

  –  93,113

Net assets (liabilities)  435,191  (154,709 )

Capital and reserves
share capital 38 12,952  8,008
share premium and reserves  345,084  (163,034 )

equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  358,036  (155,026 )
share options reserve of a subsidiary  15,988  317
minority interests  61,167  –

Total equity  435,191  (154,709 )

the consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 113 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of Directors on 20 march 2008 and are signed on its behalf by:

 
Cao Zhong Chen Zheng
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2007

	 Attributable	 to	equity	holders	of	 the	Company	
	 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 Share
	 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 		 options
	 		 Share		 Capital		 		 		 Share		 		 		 		 		 reserve
	 Share		 premium		 contribution		 Contributed		 Statutory		 options		 Exchange		 Special		Accumulated		 	 	 of	a		 Minority
	 capital		 account		 reserve		 surplus		 reserve		 reserve		 reserve		 reserve		 losses		 Total		 subsidiary		 interests		 Total
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

     (Note a)  (Note b)  (Note c)      (Note d)

at 1 January 2006 8,008  92,438  445  40,271  680  –  (44 ) –  (270,010 ) (128,212 ) –  –  (128,212 )

exchange differences on translation of
 foreign operations
 recognised directly in equity –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,161 ) –  –  (2,161 ) –  –  (2,161 )
loss for the year –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (30,245 ) (30,245 ) –  –  (30,245 )

total recognised expenses for the year –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,161 ) –  (30,245 ) (32,406 ) –  –  (32,406 )

sub-total 8,008  92,438  445  40,271  680  –  (2,205 ) –  (300,255 ) (160,618 ) –  –  (160,618 )
recognition of equity-settled share
 based payments –  –  –  –  –  5,590  –  –  –  5,590  347  –  5,937
exercise of share options –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (28 ) –  (28 )
Cancellation of share options granted
 by a subsidiary –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  2  2  (2 ) –  –

 
at 31 December 2006 and
 at 1 January 2007 8,008  92,438  445  40,271  680  5,590  (2,205 ) –  (300,253 ) (155,026 ) 317  –  (154,709 )

exchange differences on translation of
 foreign operations
 recognised directly in equity –  –  –  –  –  –  5,271  –  –  5,271  –  22  5,293
Profit for the year –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  18,302  18,302  –  3,167  21,469

total recognised income for the year –  –  –  –  –  –  5,271  –  18,302  23,573  –  3,189  26,762

sub-total 8,008  92,438  445  40,271  680  5,590  3,066  –  (281,951 ) (131,453 ) 317  3,189  (127,947 )
shares issued 4,320  479,624  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  483,944  –  –  483,944
transaction costs attributable to issue
 of shares –  (12,740 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (12,740 ) –  –  (12,740 )
increase in minority share of a subsidiary –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  9,940  9,940
exercise of share options 624  30,348  –  –  –  (7,817 ) –  –  –  23,155  –  –  23,155
exercise of share options of a subsidiary –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (235 ) 3,014  2,779
recognition of equity-settled share
 based payments –  –  –  –  –  41,488  –  –  –  41,488  15,914  –  57,402
Cancellation of share options granted
 by a subsidiary –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  8  8  (8 ) –  –
acquisition of additional interest in
 a subsidiary –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (46,366 ) –  (46,366 ) –  45,024  (1,342 )

At	31	December	2007 12,952  589,670  445  40,271  680  39,261  3,066  (46,366 ) (281,943 ) 358,036  15,988  61,167  435,191
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes:

(a) Capital contribution reserve represents accumulated effect on imputed interest on amount due to other related 
party.

(b) Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of share capital of the Company issued 
and the aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an 
exchange of shares pursuant to a group reorganisation, which was completed on 31 December 2002.

(c) as stipulated by the rules and regulations in the People’s republic of China (the “PrC”, for the purpose of this 
report, does not include Hong Kong, macau and taiwan), foreign investment enterprises are required to appropriate 
part of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior years’ losses) to certain statutory reserves. 環球數碼媒體科技研究
(深圳)有限公司 (“iDmt shenzhen”) and 環球數碼媒體科技(上海)有限公司, wholly-foreign owned enterprises established 
in the PrC, are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior years’ losses) to a general 
reserve fund until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital thereafter any further appropriation 
is optional and is determinable by the companies’ board of directors. the statutory reserve as at 31 December 
2007 represents general reserve fund of iDmt shenzhen of approximately HK$680,000 (2006: HK$680,000) which 
can only be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital.

(d) special reserve represents the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the net assets attributable 
to the additional interest in a subsidiary being acquired from minority shareholders during the year ended 31 December 
2007. this special reserve will be recognised in the consolidated income statement upon the earlier of the disposal 
of the subsidiary or the disposal by the subsidiary of the assets to which it relates (see note 39). 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

 
  2007  2006
  HK$’000  HK$’000

oPeratinG aCtiVities
Profit (loss) before tax 24,568		 (30,245 )
adjustments for:
 share-based payments expense 57,402	 5,937
 Depreciation 1,088	 2,965
 Finance costs 4,002	 13,080
 share of loss of an associate 298	 –
 allowance for bad and doubtful debts 230	 1,660
 amortisation of prepaid lease payments 68	 –
 Gain on dilution of interest in a subsidiary (40,130	) –
 Discount on acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary (1,342	) –
 interest income (6,252	) (69 )
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (20	) (453 )
 Gain on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary (net of expenses) –	 (1,795 )

operating cashflow before movements in working capital 39,912	 (8,920 )
increase in inventories (4,292	) (1,312 )
Decrease in production work in progress –	 2,819
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from customers for contract work 168	 (808 )
increase in trade receivables (138,328	) (4,076 )
increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (7,754	) (1,469 )
increase in income received in advance 3,733	 3,864
increase in amounts due to customers for contract work 227	 1,850
increase in trade payables 1,359	 1,773
Decrease in other payables and accruals (11,340	) (586 )
increase in amounts due to directors 604	 192
Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (540	) (1,654 )

net CasH UseD in oPeratinG aCtiVities (116,251	)	 (8,327 )

inVestinG aCtiVities
investment in an associate (722	) –
(increase) decrease in pledged bank deposit (7,800	) 16,455
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,762	) (3,504 )
acquisition of intangible asset (88,633	) –
interest received 6,252	 69
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 20	 453
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary 
 (net of expenses) –	 1,767
Prepaid lease payments (5,794	) –
advance to an associate (1,053	) –
advance paid for acquisition of intangible asset (35,581	) –

net CasH (UseD in) From inVestinG aCtiVities (146,073	) 15,240
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

 
  2007  2006
  HK$’000  HK$’000

FinanCinG aCtiVities
Proceeds from issue of shares, net of transaction costs 471,204	 –
Proceeds from issue of shares of a subsidiary to
 a minority shareholder, net of transaction costs 50,235	 –
exercise of share options 23,155	 –
exercise of share options of a subsidiary 2,614	 –
net (repayment of) increase in loan from a fellow subsidiary (66,360	) 33,740
new bank loan raised 13,898	 10,000
repayment of advance from other related parties (2,440	) (4,417 )
repayment of bank loans (10,000	) (28,236 )
interest paid (3,850	) (1,066 )
repayment of obligations under finance leases (1,448	) (3,402 )
repayment to shareholders (339	) –
repayment of other loans (18,295	) (8,615 )

net CasH From (UseD in) FinanCinG aCtiVities 458,374  (1,996 )

net inCrease in CasH anD CasH eQUiValents 196,050  4,917

CasH anD CasH eQUiValents at beGinninG
 oF tHe Year 8,596	 3,667

effect of foreign exchange rate changes 5,731	 12

CasH anD CasH eQUiValents at enD oF tHe Year 210,377  8,596
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

1.	 GENERAL

the Company is a public listed company incorporated in bermuda as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies act 1981 of bermuda (as amended) and its shares are 
listed on the Growth enterprise market (“Gem”) of the stock exchange of Hong Kong limited (the 
“stock exchange”). its ultimate holding company is shougang Concord Grand (Group) limited 
(“shougang Grand”), a public listed company incorporated in bermuda as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies act 1981 of bermuda (as amended) and its shares are 
listed on the stock exchange. the immediate holding company is Upper nice assets ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of shougang Grand. the addresses of the registered office and principal place of 
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate information” section to the annual report.

the Company is an investment holding company. the principal activities and other particulars of its 
subsidiaries are set out in note 46.

the functional currency of the Company is United states dollars. the consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the convenience of the reader.

2.	 APPLICATION	OF	NEW	AND	REVISED	HONG	KONG	FINANCIAL	REPORTING	
STANDARDS

in the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standard, amendment 
and interpretations (“new HKFrss”) issued by the Hong Kong institute of Certified Public 
accountants (the “HKiCPa”), which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 
2007.

HKas 1 (amendment) Capital Disclosures
HKFrs 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures
HK(iFriC) – int 7 applying the restatement approach under HKas 29
  “Financial reporting in Hyperinflationary economies”
HK(iFriC) – int 8 scope of HKFrs 2
HK(iFriC) – int 9 reassessment of embedded Derivatives
HK(iFriC) – int 10 interim Financial reporting and impairment

the Group has applied the disclosure requirements under HKas 1 (amendment) and HKFrs 7 
retrospectively. Certain information presented in prior year under the requirements of HKas 32 has 
been removed and the relevant comparative information based on the requirements of HKas 1 
(amendment) and HKFrs 7 has been presented for the first time in the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2.	 APPLICATION	OF	NEW	AND	REVISED	HONG	KONG	FINANCIAL	REPORTING	
STANDARDS (Continued)

the Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards or interpretations that have 
been issued but are not yet effective.

HKas 1 (revised) Presentation of Financial statements 1

HKas 23 (revised) borrowing Costs 1

HKFrs 8 operating segments 1

HK(iFriC) -int 11 HKFrs 2: Group and treasury share transactions 2

HK(iFriC) -int 12 service Concession arrangements 3

HK(iFriC) -int 13 Customer loyalty Programmes 4

HK(iFriC) -int 14 HKas 19 – the limit on a Defined benefit asset,
  minimum Funding requirements and their interaction 3

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 march 2007
3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
4 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

the directors to the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the application of these standards or 
interpretations will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
reporting standards issued by the HKiCPa. in addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the rules Governing the listing of securities on Gem of 
the stock exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies ordinance.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as explained 
in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.

the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

all intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the 
Group’s equity therein. minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests 
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since 
the date of the combination. losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in 
the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the 
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

the acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. the cost of the 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control 
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
HKFrs 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. if, after reassessment, the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

the interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion 
of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

Goodwill arising on acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary represents the excess of the 
cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net assets attributable to the additional interest in 
a subsidiary. if, after reassessment, the fair value of the net assets attributable to the additional 
interest in a subsidiary by the Group exceeds the cost of the acquisition, the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the 
underlying assets and liabilities attributable to the additional interest in a subsidiary is debited 
directly to special reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate

an associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a 
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.

the results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an 
associate is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any identified impairment loss. 
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate 
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment 
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. an additional share 
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Revenue recognition

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents 
amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of 
returns, discounts and sales related taxes.

revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed.

training fee income is recognised over the period of the training course on a straight line basis. 
Unearned training fee income received is recorded as income received in advance.

technical service income is recognised when the service is provided.

receipts from distribution of digital motion pictures were recognised when the digital motion pictures 
were exhibited.

rental income from equipment leasing is recognised on a straight line basis over the relevant lease 
terms.

interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Subcontracting contracts for computer graphic (“CG”) creation and production

Where the outcome of a subcontracting contract of CG creation and production can be estimated 
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the balance sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

Where the outcome of a subcontracting contract cannot be estimated reliably, subcontracting 
revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable to be recoverable. 
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed 
progress billings, the surplus is shown as an amounts due from customers for contract work. For 
contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less 
recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. amounts 
received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated balance sheet, as a 
liability, as income received in advance. amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the 
customer are included in the consolidated balance sheet under trade receivables.

property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation and amortisation are provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and 
equipment over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual 
value, using the straight line method.

assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on the same basis 
as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income statement in the year in which 
the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

leasing

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a 
straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at 
the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. the 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss.

rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease.

Leasehold land and building
the land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered separately for the 
purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between 
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire contract is generally treated as a finance 
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. to the extent the allocation of the lease 
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating leases.

Foreign currencies

in preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective 
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. at each balance 
sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates 
prevailing on the balance sheet date. non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Company (i.e. 
Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income 
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates 
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
transactions are used. exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component 
of equity (the exchange reserve). such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

all borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance costs in the consolidated income 
statement in the year in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the 
related costs and presented as income received in advance. Grants related to depreciable assets are 
recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the assets. Grants 
related to expense items are recognised in the same period as those expenses are charged in the 
consolidated income statement and are deducted in reporting the related expense.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the mandatory Provident Fund 
scheme are charged as expenses when employees have rendered service entitling them to the 
contributions.

taxation

income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

the tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. taxable profit differs from profit 
as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes income statement items that 
are never taxable or deductible. the Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

taxation (Continued)

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the profit or loss, except 
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
dealt with in equity.

Intangible assets

intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are carried at costs less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. amortisation for intangible assets 
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
the consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognised. (see the accounting policy in 
respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

Research and development expenditure

expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

an internally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is recognised only if 
it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined project will be recovered 
through future commercial activity. the resultant asset is amortised on a straight line basis over 
its useful life, and carried at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-
in, first-out method.



Global DiGital Creations HolDinGs limiteD AnnuAl RepoRt 2007 65

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

production work in progress

Production work in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses. Costs include all direct 
costs associated with the production of films or television drama series. Production costs are 
transferred to cost of sales upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
the Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 
assets. all regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 
on a trade date basis. regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace. the accounting policies adopted in respect of each category of financial assets are set 
out below.

effective interest method
the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, 
loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other receivables, amount due from an associate, 
pledged bank deposit and bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial 
assets below).
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
available-for-sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified 
impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. (see accounting 
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below.)

impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that 
investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

‧  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
‧  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
‧  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, other receivables and amount 
due from an associate, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio 
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase 
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 90 days 
and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. such impairment loss will 
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivable and amount due from an associate, where the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade receivables is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment 
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
effective interest method
the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

other financial liabilities
other financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, amounts due to fellow 
subsidiaries/directors/a shareholder and other related parties, loans from other related parties/a 
fellow subsidiary, secured bank borrowing and other loan are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method.

equity instruments
equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, 
the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. on derecognition of a financial asset, the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable 
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES (Continued)

equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group

the fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted 
at the grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share options reserve). For share options which are vested at the date of grant, 
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

at each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. the impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if 
any, is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

at the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options 
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited or cancelled or 
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve 
will be transferred to accumulated losses/retained earnings.

Share options granted in exchange of services

share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the fair values of the services 
received similar to those as employees, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which 
case the services are measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. the 
fair values of the services received are recognised as expenses immediately, unless the services 
qualify for recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has been made to equity (share options 
reserve).

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

at each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. if the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. an impairment loss is recognised 
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately.
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4.	 KEY	SOURCES	OF	ESTIMATION	UNCERTAINTY

in the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are described in note 3, the Directors 
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. the estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
actual results may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

the following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of intangible asset

at 31 December 2007, the carrying amount of intangible asset was approximately HK$221,545,000 
(2006: nil). in determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Directors take 
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows to be generated from use of the intangible 
asset. the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at a suitable discount rate. 
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, an impairment loss may arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Directors did not identify any impairment loss on the 
intangible asset.

Provision for litigation

the management of the Group monitor any litigation against the Group closely. Provision for the 
litigation is made based on the opinion of the legal adviser on the possible outcome and liability of 
the Group. as at 31 December 2007, there is no foreseeable financial impact to the Group and no 
provision for litigation has been made. Details are set out in note 47.
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5.	 FINANCIAL	 INSTRUMENTS

5a. Categories of financial instruments 
  2007  2006
  HK$’000  HK$’000

Financial	assets
loans and receivables (including cash
 equivalents)  237,310	 14,986

Financial	 liabilities
amortised cost  67,722	 151,749

5b. Financial risk management objectives and polices

the Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables, amount 
due from an associate, pledged bank deposit and bank balances, trade payables, other 
payables, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/directors/a shareholder/other related parties, 
loans from other related parties/a fellow subsidiary, obligations under finance leases, secured 
bank borrowing and other loan. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective 
notes. the risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. the policies on how to mitigate these 
risks are set out below. the management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
the Group earns revenue in United states dollars and renminbi, and incurs costs in 
United states dollars, renminbi and Hong Kong dollars which are primarily transacted 
using functional currencies of the respective group entities. the Directors believe that the 
Group does not have significant foreign exchange exposure. However, if necessary, the 
Group will consider using forward exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency 
exposures. as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, the Group has no significant exposure 
under foreign exchange.
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5.	 FINANCIAL	 INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and polices (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
the Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the 
prevailing market interest rate on bank deposits, loans from other related parties and loan 
from a fellow subsidiary which carry interest at prevailing market interest rates.

the Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed rate secured bank 
borrowing as disclosed in note 36. the Group currently does not use any derivative 
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the management will 
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate sensitivity
at the balance sheet date, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and 
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 
2007 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$183,000 (2006: loss decrease/
increase by approximately HK$105,000).

Credit risk

as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which 
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the 
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as 
stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

in order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. in addition, the Group 
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to 
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. in this regard, the 
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

the credit risk on pledged bank deposit and bank balances is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

the Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the United 
states, which accounted for 55% (2006: 19%) of the total trade receivable as at 31 December 
2007.

the Group has concentration of credit risk as 40% (2006: 38%) and 86% (2006: 58%) of 
the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest 
customers, respectively.
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5.	 FINANCIAL	 INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and polices (Continued)

Liquidity risk

in the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and 
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and 
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. the management monitors the utilisation of 
borrowings from time to time.

the following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. the table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. the table 
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity and interest risk tables
 

	 	 		 		 		 		 Total	
	 Weighted	 		 		 		 		undiscounted		 Carrying
	 average	 		 		 		 		 cash	 flows	 	 amount
	 effective	 Less	 than		 1-3		 3	months		 		 at	 	 at
	 interest	 rate	 1	month		 months		 to	1	year		 1	–	5	years		 31.12.2007		 31.12.2007
	 %	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

2007
Non-derivative	 financial	 liabilities
trade payables	 –	 2,116		 2,081		 –		 –		 4,197		 4,197
other payables	 –	 5,188		 595		 2,502		 –		 8,285		 8,285
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries	 –	 2,553		 –		 –		 –		 2,553		 2,553
amounts due to directors	 –	 2,797		 –		 115		 –		 2,912		 2,912
amounts due to other related parties	 –	 –		 –		 877		 –		 877		 877
loan from a fellow subsidiary	 6	 –		 37,100		 –		 –		 37,100		 35,000
obligations under finance leases	 9	 75		 223		 227		 –		 525		 525
secured bank borrowing	 7	 –		 13,977		 –		 –		 13,977		 13,898

	 	 12,729		 53,976		 3,721		 –		 70,426		 68,247
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5.	 FINANCIAL	 INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5b. Financial risk management objectives and polices (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

          total
 Weighted          undiscounted  Carrying
 average          cash flows  amount
 effective less than  1-3  3 months     at  at
 interest rate 1 month  months  to 1 year  1 – 5 years  31.12.2006  31.12.2006
 % HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

2006
Non-derivative	 financial	 liabilities
trade payables – –  2,688  150  –  2,838  2,838
other payables – 3,330  2,084  4,937  –  10,351  10,351
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries – 247  3,014  9,023  –  12,284  12,284
amounts due to directors – 78  233  1,997  –  2,308  2,308
amount due to a shareholder – –  –  339  –  339  339
amounts due to other related parties – 9  26  1,466  455  1,956  1,956
loans from other related parties 11 –  –  1,342  –  1,342  1,209
loans from a fellow subsidiary 11 –  –  –  112,446  112,446  92,169
obligations under finance leases 9 186  564  796  427  1,973  1,973
secured bank borrowing 6 –  10,628  –  –  10,628  10,000
other loan 11 –  –  20,307  –  20,307  18,295

  3,850  19,237  40,357  113,328  176,772  153,722

5c. Fair value

the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or 
using prices from observable current market transactions.

the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair 
values.
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6.	 CAPITAL	RISK	MANAGEMENT

the Group’s objectives to manage its capital are to ensure that entities of the Group will be able to 
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s 
stability and growth; and to strengthening the Group’s financial management capability. the Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

the capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the loans from other related 
parties, loan from a fellow subsidiary, obligations under finance leases, secured bank borrowing and 
other loan disclosed in notes 33, 34, 35, 36 and 37, respectively, and total equity.

the Directors review the capital structure regularly and manage its capital structure to ensure 
an optimal capital structure and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital 
requirements of the Group, projected operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and 
projected strategic investment opportunities. the Directors monitor capital mainly using total debt to 
equity ratio. the ratio as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

 
  2007  2006
  HK$’000  HK$’000

total debt(1)  49,423	 123,646
total equity(2)  435,191	 (154,709 )

total debt to equity ratio (%)  11  n/a

the Directors considered that the Group maintained a healthy capital ratio as at 31 December 2007 
as the total debt to equity ratio was at a relative low level.

Notes:

(1) total debt equals to sum of loans from other related parties, loan from a fellow subsidiary, obligations 
under finance leases, secured bank borrowing and other loan.

(2) total equity equals to all capital and reserves of the Group.
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7.	 REVENUE

revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods sold by the Group to outside 
customers (less returns and trade discounts), CG creation and production income, revenue arising 
on training fee, technical service fee, distribution of digital motion pictures and rental income from 
equipment leasing during the year, is as follows:
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

sales of goods 180,715	 12,845
CG creation and production income 51,300	 27,425
training fee 10,963	 9,093
technical service income 3,131	 2,245
receipts from distribution of digital motion pictures –	 2,929
rental income from equipment leasing 16	 383

 246,125		 54,920

included in revenue for the year ended 31 December 2007 is an amount of HK$132,912,000 (2006: 
nil) in respect of goods sold in exchange for an intangible asset.
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8.	 BUSINESS	AND	GEOGRAPHICAL	SEGMENTS

(a) Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into three operating divisions – CG 
creation and production, digital content distribution and exhibitions and the provision of CG 
training courses. these divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment 
information.

segment information about these businesses is presented below:

For	 the	year	ended	31	December	2007
 

	 		 Digital
	 		 content
	 CG		 distribution		 CG
	 creation	and		 and		 training
	 production		 exhibitions		 courses		 Consolidated
	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

revenue
 external sales	 51,300		 183,862		 10,963		 246,125

result
 segment result	 17,499		 4,522		 1,987		 24,008

Unallocated corporate income	 		 		 		 10,432
Unallocated corporate expenses	 		 		 		 (47,044	)
Finance costs	 		 		 		 (4,002	)
share of loss of an associate	 –		 (298	)	 –		 (298	)
Discount on acquisition of
 additional interest in a 
 subsidiary	 –		 1,342		 –		 1,342
Gain on dilution of interest in
 a subsidiary	 –		 40,130		 –		 40,130

Profit before tax	 		 		 		 24,568
income tax expense	 		 		 		 (3,099	)

Profit for the year	 		 		 		 21,469
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8.	 BUSINESS	AND	GEOGRAPHICAL	SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)

For	 the	year	ended	31	December	2007
 

	 		 Digital
	 		 content
	 CG		 distribution		 CG
	 creation	and		 and		 training
	 production		 exhibitions		 courses		 Corporate		Consolidated
	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

otHer inFormation
Capital additions 10,892		 225,121		 2,734		 1,354		 240,101
Depreciation 2,181		 115		 351		 490		 3,137
allowance for bad and doubtful
 debts 230		 –		 –		 –		 230
amortisation of prepaid lease
 payments 68		 –		 –		 –		 68
share-based payments expense
 (note 40) –		 15,914		 –		 41,488		 57,402

At	31	December	2007
 

	 		 Digital
	 		 content
	 CG		 distribution		 CG
	 creation	and		 and		 training
	 production		 exhibitions		 courses		 Consolidated
	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

balanCe sHeet
assets
 segment assets 32,156		 259,886		 6,296		 298,338
 interest in an associate –		 424		 –		 424
 Unallocated corporate assets 		 		 		 229,715

Consolidated total assets 		 		 		 528,477

liabilities
 segment liabilities 8,367		 24,678		 6,405		 39,450
 Unallocated corporate liabilities 		 		 		 53,836

Consolidated total liabilities 		 		 		 93,286
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8.	 BUSINESS	AND	GEOGRAPHICAL	SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)

For	 the	year	ended	31	December	2006

   Digital
   content
 CG  distribution  CG
 creation and  and  training
 production  exhibitions  courses  Consolidated
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

revenue
 external sales 30,354  15,473  9,093  54,920

result
 segment result 64  (7,224 ) 116  (7,044 )

Unallocated corporate income       69
Unallocated corporate expenses       (11,985 )
Finance costs       (13,080 )
Gain on disposal of partial interest
 in a subsidiary –  1,795  –  1,795

loss for the year       (30,245 )

For	 the	year	ended	31	December	2006

   Digital
   content
 CG  distribution  CG
 creation and  and  training
 production  exhibitions  courses  Corporate  Consolidated
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

otHer inFormation
Capital additions 2,812  584  101  7  3,504
Depreciation 1,776  190  444  2,676  5,086
allowance for bad and doubtful
 debts –  1,660  –  –  1,660
share-based payments expense 
 (note 40) –  347  –  5,590  5,937
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8.	 BUSINESS	AND	GEOGRAPHICAL	SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)

At	31	December	2006

   Digital
   content
 CG  distribution  CG
 creation and  and  training
 production  exhibitions  courses  Consolidated
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

balanCe sHeet
assets
 segment assets 8,417  7,065  1,486  16,968
 Unallocated corporate assets       9,533

Consolidated total assets       26,501

liabilities
 segment liabilities 13,671  8,413  4,682  26,766
 Unallocated corporate liabilities       154,444

Consolidated total liabilities       181,210
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8.	 BUSINESS	AND	GEOGRAPHICAL	SEGMENTS (Continued)

(b) Geographical segments

the Group’s three business segments operate in eight main geographical areas, namely the 
PrC, the United states, europe, middle-east, singapore, Korea, india and other regions. the 
head office of the Group is located in Hong Kong. the Group’s CG creation and production 
centre and the CG training facilities are located in the PrC. Customers of the Group’s digital 
content distribution and exhibitions division are located in the PrC, the United states, 
singapore, india, and other regions.

the following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market based 
on geographical location of customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods.

 
	

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

the PrC 141,721	 18,266
United states 68,073	 23,833
europe 12,962	 1,990
middle-east 12,743	 –
singapore 2,573	 4,035
Korea 499	 2,941
india 598	 107
other regions 6,956	 3,748

 246,125	 54,920

the following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and capital additions, 
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

	 Segment	assets	 Capital	additions
  

 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000	 HK$’000  HK$’000	 HK$’000

the PrC 319,816  15,334  236,239  2,945
Hong Kong 204,174  4,751  3,049  524
United states 1,986  3,269  177  –
singapore 2,501  2,142  636  35
other regions –  1,005  –  –

total 528,477  26,501  240,101  3,504
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9.	 DIRECTORS’	AND	EMPLOYEES’	EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

the emoluments paid or payable to each of the 10 (2006: 10) Directors were as follows:
 

	 Year	ended	31	December	2007	
	 	 		 		 		 Retirement
	 	 		 Share–		 Salaries		 benefits
	 	 		 based		 and	other		 schemes
	 	 Fees		 payments		 benefits		 contributions		 Total
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Executive Directors:
 Cao Zhong  120		 5,695		 1,200		 –		 7,015
 Chen Zheng  480		 5,695		 1,200		 –		 7,375
 Jin Guo Ping 	 –		 –		 1,101		 12		 1,113
 lu Yi, Gloria (a) –		 20,580		 1,120		 4		 21,704
 Xu Qing, Catherine (b) –		 –		 792		 11		 803

  600		 31,970		 5,413		 27		 38,010

Non-executive Directors:
 leung shun sang, tony  120		 5,695		 –		 –		 5,815
 Deng Wei, David (c) 15		 –		 –		 –		 15

  135		 5,695		 –		 –		 5,830

Independent non-executive 
 Directors:
 Kwong Che Keung, Gordon  150		 569		 –		 –		 719
 bu Fan Xiao  150		 569		 –		 –		 719
 Hui Hung, stephen  150		 569		 –		 –		 719

  450		 1,707		 –		 –		 2,157

  1,185		 39,372		 5,413		 27		 45,997

Notes:

(a) appointed on 20 september 2007.

(b) resigned on 1 December 2007.

(c) resigned on 15 February 2007.

no Directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 31 December 2007.
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9.	 DIRECTORS’	AND	EMPLOYEES’	EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

	 Year ended 31 December 2006	
        retirement
    share–  salaries  benefits
    based  and other  schemes
  Fees  payments  benefits  contributions  total
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Executive Directors:
 Cao Zhong (a) 120  696  –  –  816
 Chen Zheng  120  696  –  –  816
 Jin Guo Ping  –  641  943  12  1,596
 Xu Qing, Catherine  –  645  936  12  1,593

  240  2,678  1,879  24  4,821

Non-executive Directors:
 leung shun sang, tony  120  668  –  –  788
 Deng Wei, David (b) 120  –  –  –  120

  240  668  –  –  908

Independent non-executive 
 Directors:
 Kwong Che Keung, Gordon  150  86  –  –  236
 bu Fan Xiao  150  64  –  –  214
 Hui Hung, stephen  138  64  –  –  202
 Japhet sebastian law (c) 10  –  –  –  10

  448  214  –  –  662

  928  3,560  1,879  24  6,391

Notes:

(a) re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director on 6 February 2006 and re-
designated from non-executive Director to executive Director on 23 June 2006.

(b) resigned on 15 February 2007.

(c) resigned on 1 February 2006.

no Directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 31 December 2006.
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9.	 DIRECTORS’	AND	EMPLOYEES’	EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) employees’ emoluments
of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2006: two) were the 
Directors whose emoluments are included in the disclosures above. the emoluments of the 
remaining one (2006: three) highest paid individuals were as follows:

 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

share-based payments 11,387	 217
salaries and other benefits 2,560	 3,332
retirement benefits schemes contributions 12	 95

 13,959	 3,644

their emoluments were within the following bands:

	 Number	of	employees 
 2007  2006

nil to HK$1,000,000 –	 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 –	 –
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 –	 –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 –	 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$13,500,000 –	 –
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000 1	 –

	 1	 3

10.	 OTHER	 INCOME

other income for the year ended 31 December 2007 mainly includes waiver of interest payable 
on other loan from Win real management limited and waiver of rental payable to a landlord, 深
圳大學文化科技服務有限公司, in the amounts of approximately HK$4,156,000 and HK$3,228,000, 
respectively.

11.	 FINANCE	COSTS
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

interest on:
 loan from a fellow subsidiary 3,402		 9,601
 bank borrowing wholly repayable within five years 353	 349
 loans from other related parties 152	 2,778
 Finance leases 92	 335
 loan from a shareholder –	 5
 others 3  12

 4,002		 13,080



Global DiGital Creations HolDinGs limiteD AnnuAl RepoRt 2007 85

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

12.	 GAIN	ON	DILUTION	OF	 INTEREST	 IN	A	SUBSIDIARY

the amount of approximately HK$40,130,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 included (i) 
approximately HK$40,295,000 from the gain on dilution of the Group’s interest in GDC technology 
limited (“GDC technology”), a subsidiary of the Company, from approximately 83.3% to 56.3% 
of the issued capital of GDC technology upon the completion of the subscription of 52,383,580 
shares of GDC technology by a subscriber at a consideration of Us$6.5 million (or equivalent to 
approximately HK$50,570,000) in January 2007; and (ii) approximately HK$165,000 from the net loss 
on further dilution of the Group’s interest in GDC technology upon exercise of share options of GDC 
technology during the year.

13.	 GAIN	ON	DISPOSAL	OF	PARTIAL	 INTEREST	 IN	A	SUBSIDIARY

the amount for the year ended 31 December 2006 mainly represented the gain on a transfer of 
15% interest in GDC technology to the management of GDC technology for cash consideration of 
HK$1,600,000. Upon the completion of the transaction in september 2006, the Group’s effective 
shareholding interest in GDC technology decreased from 100% to 85%.

in november 2006, mr. leung shun sang, tony, a Director exercised 2,130,000 share options 
and the Group’s effective shareholding interest in GDC technology further decreased from 85% to 
83.3%.

14.	 INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Current tax:
 Hong Kong 904  –
 PrC enterprise income tax (“eit”)	 2,195  –

 3,099	 –

Hong Kong Profits tax is calculated at 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the 
year.

no provision for Hong Kong Profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2006 as the Group had no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for 
that year.

taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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14.	 INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant income tax regulations for productive enterprises with foreign investment 
established in the PrC and being approved by the relevant PrC tax authority, some subsidiaries 
in the PrC are eligible for an exemption from PrC eit for two years starting from the first profit-
making year after offsetting all tax losses carried forward from the previous five years, followed by 
a 50% reduction in the next three years. However, such exemption for some subsidiaries expired 
during the year ended 31 December 2007. For the year ended 31 December 2006, no provision for 
PrC eit had been made in the consolidated financial statements as those PrC subsidiaries were 
either exempted from PrC eit or did not have assessable profit for that year.

the income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) per the consolidated 
income statement as follows:
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Profit (loss) before tax 24,568	 (30,245 )

tax calculated at Hong Kong Profits tax rate of 17.5%
 (2006: 17.5%) 4,299	 (5,293 )
tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (9,547	) (2 )
tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7,430	 4,148
tax effect of tax losses not recognised 674	 731
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (2,058	) –
tax effect of temporary differences arising from
 unrealised profits resulting from intra-group
 transactions not recognised 2,961	 –
effect of tax exemptions granted to subsidiaries in the PrC –	 224
effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in
 other jurisdictions (436	) 192
others (224	) –

income tax expense for the year 3,099	 –

at the balance sheet date, the Group has the following major deductible temporary differences and 
tax losses, of which no deferred tax assets were recognised due to the unpredictability of the future 
profit streams:
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Unrealised profits resulting from intra-group transactions 16,920	 6,575
tax losses that may be carried forward indefinitely 12,808	 12,348

 29,728	 18,923
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15.	 PROFIT	 (LOSS)	FOR	THE	YEAR
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging:

staff costs, including directors’ emoluments (note 9(a)):
 – salaries, wages and other benefits 61,148  24,982
 – retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,624  403
 – shared-based payments expense 57,402  5,937

total staff costs 120,174  31,322
less: amounts included in contracts work in progress (13,612	) (1,791 )
 government grants –	 (835 )

 106,562  28,696

allowance for bad and doubtful debts 230  1,660
amortisation of prepaid lease payments 68	 –
auditor’s remuneration 1,743	 1,572

Depreciation 3,137	 5,086
less: amounts included in contracts work in progress (1,514	) (1,829 )
 government grants (535	) (292 )

 1,088	 2,965

exchange loss (gain), net 109	 (610 )
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 137,819  7,470

minimum lease payments under operating leases for
 land and buildings 6,004	 3,318
less: amounts included in contracts work in progress (1,917	) (2,278 )

 4,087	 1,040

research and development costs 4,432	 2,422

and after crediting:

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20	 453
interest income 6,252	 69
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16.	 DIVIDENDS

no dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2007, nor has any dividend 
been proposed since the balance sheet date (2006: nil).

17.	 EARNINGS	 (LOSS)	PER	SHARE

the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company is based on the following data:
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Earnings	 (loss)
earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings (loss)
 per share (Profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity
 holders of the Company) 18,302  (30,245 )

 

	 2007  2006
 ’000  ’000

Number	of	shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
 purposes of basic earnings (loss) per share	 1,132,828  800,820

effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
 options 30,608	 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
 purposes of diluted earnings (loss) per share 1,163,436	 800,820

no diluted loss per share has been calculated for the year ended 31 December 2006 as the exercise 
of the share options could result in a decrease in the loss per share.
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18.	 PROPERTY,	PLANT	AND	EQUIPMENT

	 		 Equipment,		 		 Digital
	 Leasehold		 furniture	and		 Computer		 cinema		 Motor		 Construction
	 improvements		 fixtures		 equipment		 equipment		 vehicles		 in	progress		 Total
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Cost
at 1 January 2006 22,025  1,431  37,688  1,914  454  –  63,512
exchange realignment 902  40  641  –  5  –  1,588
additions 242  169  3,093  –  –  –  3,504
Disposals –  –  (1,145 ) (1,914 ) –  –  (3,059 )

at 31 December 2006 23,169  1,640  40,277  –  459  –  65,545
exchange realignment 1,562  60  1,313  –  10  –  2,945
additions 2,067  2,392  6,144  –  640  1,519  12,762
Disposals –  –  (35 ) –  –  –  (35 )

at 31 December 2007 26,798  4,092  47,699  –  1,109  1,519  81,217

DePreCiation,
 amortisation anD
 imPairment
at 1 January 2006 21,743  912  32,293  1,914  349  –  57,211
exchange realignment 890  27  520  –  2  –  1,439
Provided for the year 384  163  4,493  –  46  –  5,086
eliminated on disposals –  –  (1,145 ) (1,914 ) –  –  (3,059 )

at 31 December 2006 23,017  1,102  36,161  –  397  –  60,677
exchange realignment 1,558  46  1,049  –  5  –  2,658
Provided for the year 304  453  2,233  –  147  –  3,137
eliminated on disposals –  –  (35 ) –  –  –  (35 )

at 31 December 2007 24,879  1,601  39,408  –  549  –  66,437

CarrYinG ValUes
at 31 December 2007 1,919  2,491  8,291  –  560  1,519  14,780

at 31 December 2006 152  538  4,116  –  62  –  4,868
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18.	 PROPERTY,	PLANT	AND	EQUIPMENT (Continued)

the above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis at the 
following rates per annum:

leasehold improvements over the term of the lease
equipment, furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Digital cinema equipment 10 years
motor vehicles 5 years

at 31 December 2007, net book values of computer equipment of the Group included an amount 
of approximately HK$504,000 (2006: HK$1,221,000) in respect of assets held under finance leases. 
out of which, computer equipment with carrying values of approximately HK$504,000 (2006: 
HK$1,094,000) are held under finance lease arrangement with south China international leasing 
Company limited (“south China leasing”), a subsidiary of the ultimate holding company.

19.	 INTANGIBLE	ASSET
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

at Cost anD CarrYinG ValUe
acquisition during the year and at 31 December 221,545	 –

the cost of investment in the intangible asset represents consideration paid for acquisition of the 
contracted right from a third party to share a specified percentage of the box office receipts from 
those cinemas in the PrC using the digital cinema equipment partly sold by the Group for exhibition 
of digital contents. the intangible asset has definite useful life and is amortised on a straight line 
basis over 10 years.
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20.	 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE	 INVESTMENT

	 2007	&	2006
 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities 117
less: impairment losses recognised (117 )

 –

at 31 December 2007 and 2006 the investment represents 25% equity interest in Production and 
Partners multimedia, sas (“P&Pm”), a company incorporated in France. the investment is measured 
at cost less impairment at each balance sheet date. the investment is accounted for as available-
for-sale investment as in the absence of representation in the board of directors of P&Pm, the Group 
does not have significant influence over P&Pm.

21.	 PREPAID	LEASE	PAYMENTS
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Cost
addition during the year and at 31 December 5,794	 –

amortisation
amortisation for the year and at 31 December 68	 –

CarrYinG ValUe
at 31 December 5,726	 –

 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

the Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

medium-term leasehold land in the PrC 5,726	 –

analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current asset 114	 –
non-current asset 5,612	 –

 5,726	 –
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22.	 INTEREST	 IN	AN	ASSOCIATE
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Cost of investment in an unlisted associate 722  –
share of post-acquisition loss (298	) –

 424	 –

as at 31 December 2007, the Group had interest in the following associate:

	 	 	 Proportion	of
	 Form	of	 Country	of	 nominal	value	of
	 business	 establishment	 registered	capita
Name	of	entity	 structure	 and	operation	 held	by	 the	Group	 Principal	activity

   (Note)

中影首鋼環球數碼數字影院 sino-foreign the PrC 49% Deployment of 
 建設(北京) 有限公司 equity joint    digital cinema
 CFGDC Digital Cinema venture    network and
  Company limited (“CFGDC”)     related business

Note: the Group holds 49% of registered capital of the entity and holds 2 votes (representing 40% of that 
votes) in the board of directors of CFGDC. Pursuant to the articles of association of CFGDC, over 50% 
vote is required to pass a resolution in relation to the financial and operating policies of CFDGC. the 
Directors considers the Group does not exercise any control to CFGDC but the Group can exercise 
significant influence to CFGDC. Hence, CFGDC is classified as an associate of the Group.
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22.	 INTEREST	 IN	AN	ASSOCIATE (Continued)

the summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

total assets 2,837	 –
total liabilities (1,972	) –

net assets 865	 –

Group’s share of net assets of an associate 424	 –

revenue 2	 –

loss for the year 608	 –

Group’s share of loss of an associate for the year 298	 –

23.	 INVENTORIES
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

raw materials, net of allowance of approximately
 HK$135,000 (2006: HK$135,000) 4,395	 1,770
Finished goods, net of allowance of approximately
 HK$597,000 (2006: HK$597,000) 2,366	 699

 6,761	 2,469
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24.	 PRODUCTION	WORK	IN	PROGRESS
 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

movie, net of allowance of
 nil (2006: nil) (i) –	 –
television series, net of allowance of
 HK$14,615,000 (2006: HK$14,615,000) (ii) –	 –

  –	 –

Notes:

(i) the amount represented production costs incurred for the film titled “thru the moebius strip” (the “Film”), 
a movie project produced by the Group. Considering the potential markets, the Directors had made a full 
allowance of approximately HK$94,712,000 as at 31 December 2005. the Film was released in the PrC 
during the year ended 31 December 2006 and the cost and allowance of the Film has been written off 
accordingly during that year.

Details of the movements are as follows:

 HK$’000

Cost
at 1 January 2006 94,712
Write off (94,712 )

at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 –

alloWanCe
at 1 January 2006 (94,712 )
Write off 94,712

at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 –

CarrYinG amoUnt
at 31 December 2007 and 2006 –

(ii) the amount represents production costs incurred for the television series titled “Panshel’s World” (the “tV 
series”). as at 31 December 2007, there was a litigation in relation to the co-production of the tV series, 
details of which are set out in note 47, the Directors have considered that recoverability of the production 
costs already incurred is uncertain and a full allowance of approximately HK$14,615,000 was made as at 
31 December 2004.
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25.	 AMOUNTS	DUE	FROM	(TO)	CUSTOMERS	FOR	CONTRACT	WORK

the following is details of contracts from CG production in progress at the balance sheet date:
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits
 less recognised losses 19,137	 18,488
less: progress billings (19,083	) (19,530 )

 54	 (1,042 )

analysed for reporting purposes as:
 amounts due from customers for contract work 1,494	 808
 amounts due to customers for contract work (1,440	) (1,850 )

 54  (1,042 )

26.	 TRADE	RECEIVABLES
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

trade receivables 11,732	 7,740
less: allowance for doubtful debts (230	) (1,660 )

 11,502	 6,080

the Group allows different average credit periods to its trade customers depending on the type 
of products or services provided. the majority of sales of goods are on letter of credit against 
payment, the remaining amounts are granted with average credit terms of 90 days.
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26.	 TRADE	RECEIVABLES (Continued)

the following is an aged analysis of the trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts at the 
balance sheet date:
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Within three months 9,612	 5,514
three to six months 1,077  519
over six months 813	 47

 11,502	 6,080

before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit information to assess 
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. limits attributed to 
customers are reviewed regularly. most of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired have the best credit scoring.

included in the Group’s trade receivable balances are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of 
approximately HK$1,890,000 (2006: HK$566,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which 
the Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Directors assessed that the balances will be 
recovered. the Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

the following is an aged analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

three to six months 1,077		 519
six to nine months –	 47
nine to twelve months 282	 –
over one year 531	 –

total 1,890	 566

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

balance at beginning of the year 1,660	 521
impairment losses recognised on receivables 230	 1,660
amounts written off as uncollectible (1,660	) (521 )

balance at end of the year 230	 1,660
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26.	 TRADE	RECEIVABLES (Continued)

included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with an 
aggregate balance of approximately HK$230,000 of which the customer did not fully satisfy the 
quality of products performed by the CG creation and production division and the amount is 
considered uncollectible.

27.	 AMOUNT	DUE	FROM	AN	ASSOCIATE

the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

28.	 BANK	BALANCES/PLEDGED	BANK	DEPOSIT

bank balances carry interest rate at prevailing bank saving deposits rate at of 1.5% per annum 
(2006: 2.5% per annum) and mature within 3 months. Pledged bank deposit represents a deposit 
pledged to a bank to secure a purchase agreement entered into with an independent third party. the 
pledged bank deposit will be released upon the settlement of the relevant purchase agreement. as 
at 31 December 2007, the deposit carried interest rate of 3.75% per annum.

29.	 TRADE	PAYABLES

the following is an aged analysis of the trade payables at the balance sheet date:
 

	
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Within three months 3,853	 2,688
three to six months 344	 150

 4,197	 2,838

the average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 days. the Group has financial risk 
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

30.	 AMOUNTS	DUE	TO	FELLOW	SUBSIDIARIES	AND	DIRECTORS

the amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

31.	 AMOUNT	DUE	TO	A	SHAREHOLDER

the amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and was fully settled during the year.
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32.	 AMOUNTS	DUE	TO	OTHER	RELATED	PARTIES
 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

amounts due to other related parties – due within
 one year:

mr. raymond Dennis neoh (a) 455	 575
Global Digital Creations limited (“GDCl”) (b) 422	 422
bright oceans Corporation (HK) limited
 (“bright oceans”) (c) –	 303
madam Chan Wing Yee, betty (d) –	 201

  877	 1,501
amount due to other related party 
 – due after one year:

mr. raymond Dennis neoh (a) –	 455

  877	 1,956

Notes:

(a) the amount due to mr. raymond Dennis neoh, an ex-director and the younger brother of mr. anthony 
Francis neoh, who is a shareholder of shougang Grand, is non-interest bearing and is repayable in august 
2008. the amount was stated at amortised cost at effective interest rate of 9.8% per annum. During the 
year, imputed interest expense amounting to approximately HK$152,000 (2006: HK$263,000) was charged 
to the consolidated income statement.

(b) GDCl is a former holding company of the subsidiaries comprising the Group prior to the group 
reorganisation completed on 31 December 2002. the amount due to GDCl is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and repayable on demand.

(c) bright oceans was a shareholder of shougang Grand. the amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing 
and was fully settled during the year.

(d) madam Chan Wing Yee, betty is the spouse of mr. anthony Francis neoh. the amount was unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and was fully settled during the year.
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33.	 LOANS	FROM	OTHER	RELATED	PARTIES
 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

madam Chan Wing Yee, betty (a) –  1,000
bright oceans (b) –  209

  –  1,209

Notes:

(a) the loan was advanced from madam Chan Wing Yee, betty. the loan was unsecured, bore interest at the 
best lending rate as quoted by the Hongkong and shanghai banking Corporation limited (“best lending 
rate”) plus 3% per annum and was fully settled during the year.

(b) bright oceans was a shareholder of shougang Grand. the loan was unsecured, bore interest at best 
lending rate from time to time plus 3% per annum and was fully settled during the year.

34.	 LOAN	FROM	A	FELLOW	SUBSIDIARY

the loan is due from sCG Finance Corporation limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of shougang 
Grand, which is unsecured, bears interest at 6% per annum and with maturity on 31 December 
2008.
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35.	 OBLIGATIONS	UNDER	FINANCE	LEASES

	 	 Present	value
	 Minimum	 of	minimum
	 lease	payments	 lease	payments  

	 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000	 HK$’000  HK$’000	 HK$’000

amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year 539	 1,567  525	 1,484
in more than one year but not more
 than two years –	 504  –	 489

 539	 2,071  525	 1,973
less: Future finance charges (14	) (98 ) –	 –

Present value of lease obligations 525	 1,973  525	 1,973

less: amount due for settlement
    within 12 months (shown 
    under current liabilities)     (525	) (1,484 )

amount due for settlement after 
 12 months     –	 489

it is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its computer equipment and motor vehicles under finance 
leases. the lease terms range from two to three years. interest rates are fixed at the contract date 
ranged from 6.3% to 12.3% per annum for both years. all leases are on a fixed repayment basis and 
no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

the Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased 
assets.

the Group had entered into finance lease arrangements for leasing computer equipment from 
south China leasing. as at 31 December 2007, the finance lease payable to south China leasing 
amounted to approximately HK$525,000 (2006: HK$1,333,000). interest expense paid to south 
China leasing during the year in connection to the finance lease amounted to approximately 
HK$66,000 (2006: HK$107,000).
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36.	 SECURED	BANK	BORROWING
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

secured bank loan 13,898	 10,000

During the year, the Group obtained a new bank loan of approximately HK$14 million and repaid a 
bank loan of approximately HK$10 million in accordance with the repayment terms. the new bank 
loan raised is secured by pledge of a property of a fellow subsidiary, carries interest at fixed rate of 
6.73% (2006: 6.28%) per annum and is repayable within twelve months from the balance sheet date. 
the proceeds were used as general working capital for the Group.

37.	 OTHER	LOAN
 

	 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Win real management limited –  18,295

the loan was unsecured, bore interest at the best lending rate from time to time plus 3% per 
annum and was fully settled during the year.

38.	 SHARE	CAPITAL

	 Number	of	shares		 Share	capital
   HK$’000

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each authorised:
 at 1 January 2006 and 2007 1,200,000,000  12,000
 increase during the year 1,200,000,000  12,000

 at 31 December 2007 2,400,000,000  24,000

issued and fully paid:
 at 1 January 2006 and 2007 800,820,000  8,008
 issue of shares (note) 432,000,000  4,320
 exercise of share options 62,425,540  624

 at 31 December 2007 1,295,245,540  12,952
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38.	 SHARE	CAPITAL (Continued)

Note: During the year, the Company has issued shares in accordance with one subscription agreement and 
three placing and subscription agreements which were completed in January 2007, march 2007, may 
2007 and July 2007, respectively. the proceeds were used to raise funds for the projects of the Group, 
to reduce borrowings and to provide additional working capital for the Group. these new shares were 
issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meetings of the 
Company held on 26 may 2006 and 6 June 2007, and a special meeting of the Company held on 23 
april 2007 and rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

39.	 ACQUISITION	OF	ADDITIONAL	 INTEREST	 IN	A	SUBSIDIARY

on 14 august 2007, GDC Holdings limited (“GDC Holdings), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into a subscription agreement with GDC technology, pursuant to which GDC 
Holdings has conditionally agreed to subscribe 53,388,178 new shares of GDC technology at HK$2 
per share (the “subscription”) at a consideration of approximately HK$106,776,000. the subscription 
was completed on 2 november 2007 and the Group’s equity interest in GDC technology increased 
from approximately 51.1% to 62.4% thereafter.

the Group appointed messrs Greater China appraisal limited, independent qualified professional 
valuers not connected with the Group, to assist the Group to ascertain the fair value of the net 
assets of GDC technology in relation to the acquisition of additional interest in GDC technology 
at the date of completion of the subscription. intangible assets, mainly including customer orders 
and technology, have been identified with aggregate amount of fair value of approximately HK$410 
million in accordance with the income approach and replacement cost approach while the fair value 
of other assets and liabilities of GDC technology at that time did not have significant difference with 
their respectively carrying amounts.

accordingly, discount on acquisition of additional interest in GDC technology of approximately 
HK$1,342,000 arose, which represented the excess of the Group’s additional interest in the fair 
values of the net assets of GDC technology over the cost of the subscription at the date of 
completion of the subscription. in addition, it was resulted in a special reserve in the amount of 
approximately HK$46,366,000 which represented the difference between the fair value and the 
carrying amount of the net assets of GDC technology attributable to the additional interest in GDC 
technology being acquired.



Global DiGital Creations HolDinGs limiteD AnnuAl RepoRt 2007 103

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

40.	 SHARE	OPTION	SCHEME

the Company’s share option scheme (the “scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed 
at its special general meeting held on 18 July 2003 for the primary purpose of providing incentives 
or rewards to selected participants for their contribution to the Group. the scheme will expire on 4 
august 2013.

an option may be exercised at any time during the period to be determined and notified by the 
Directors to the grantee but may not be exercised after the expiry of ten years from the date of offer 
of that opinion. a consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance the offer.

the exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal 
value of the share on the date of offer, the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of 
offer; and the average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding 
the date of offer.

the share option scheme of GDC technology (“GDC technology share option scheme”) was 
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed at the Company’s special general meeting held on 19 
september 2006 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants 
for their contribution to GDC technology, its subsidiaries and its holding companies (including 
intermediate and ultimate holding companies). the GDC technology share scheme will remain in 
force for a period of 10 years to 18 september 2016.

Details of the scheme and GDC technology share option scheme are disclosed in the section 
headed “share option schemes” in the report of the Directors.

During the year, 48,300,000 options (2006: 69,848,380 options) and 19,095,000 options (2006: 
26,656,665) options have been granted under the scheme and GDC technology share option 
scheme to the Directors, employees and other participants, respectively.
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40.	 SHARE	OPTION	SCHEME (Continued)

the following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share options during the year:

	 Number	of	share	options	
	 	 	 	 Balance		 Granted		 Exercised		 Balance
Category	of	 Date	 Exercise	 Exercise	 as	at		 during		 during		 as	at
grantees	 of	grant	 period	 price	 1.1.2007		 the	year		 the	year		 31.12.2007

Directors 6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK$0.3 42,443,460  –  (33,634,440 ) 8,809,020
  5.10.2009
 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – HK$2.75 –  28,170,000  –  28,170,000
  29.10.2012

employees 6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK$0.3 14,200,000  –  (14,200,000 ) –
  5.10.2009
 22.3.2007 22.3.2007 – HK$1.07 –  3,000,000  (700,000 ) 2,300,000
  21.3.2010
 4.4.2007 4.4.2007 – HK$1.52 –  2,890,000  (628,000 ) 2,262,000
  3.4.2010
 30.10.2007 30.10.2007 – HK$2.75 –  9,900,000  –  9,900,000
  29.10.2012

other participants 6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK$0.3 13,204,920  –  (10,704,100 ) 2,500,820
  5.10.2009
 4.4.2007 4.4.2007 – HK$1.52 –  4,340,000  (2,559,000 ) 1,781,000
  3.4.2010

totals    69,848,380  48,300,000  (62,425,540 ) 55,722,840
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40.	 SHARE	OPTION	SCHEME (Continued)

the following table sets out the movements in the share options of GDC technology during the year:

	 Number	of	share	options	
	 	 	 	 		 		 		 Cancelled/
	 	 	 	 Balance		 Granted		 Exercised		 lapsed		 Balance
Category	of	 Date	 Exercise	 Exercise	 as	at		 during		 during		 during		 as	at
grantees	 of	grant	 period	 price	 1.1.2007		 the	year		 the	year		 the	year		 31.12.2007

Directors 29.9.2006 29.9.2006 – HK$0.145 10,563,334  –  (10,560,001 ) –  3,333
  28.9.2009
 2.11.2007 2.11.2007 – HK$2.00 –  17,445,000  –  –  17,445,000
  1.11.2012

employees 29.9.2006 29.9.2006 – HK$0.145 7,466,666  –  (7,466,666 ) –  –
  28.9.2009
 5.10.2006 5.10.2006 – HK$0.145 5,313,332  –  –  (750,000 ) 4,563,332
  4.10.2009
 2.11.2007 2.11.2007 – HK$2.00 –  1,650,000  –  –  1,650,000
  1.11.2012

other  29.9.2006 29.9.2006 – HK$0.145 1,173,333  –  –  –  1,173,333
 participants  28.9.2009

totals    24,516,665  19,095,000  (18,026,667 ) (750,000 ) 24,834,998

the following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share options during the year ended 
31 December 2006:

	 Number	of	share	options	
	 	 	 	 		 		 		 Cancelled/
	 	 	 	 Balance		 Granted		 Exercised		 lapsed		 Balance
Category	of	 Date	 Exercise	 Exercise	 as	at		 during		 during		 during		 as	at
grantees	 of	grant	 period	 price	 1.1.2006		 the	year		 the	year		 the	year		 31.12.2006

Directors 6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK0.3 –  42,443,460  –  –  42,443,460
  5.10.2009
employees 6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK0.3 –  14,200,000  –  –  14,200,000
  5.10.2009
other  6.10.2006 6.10.2006 – HK0.3 –  13,204,920  –  –  13,204,920
 Participants  5.10.2009

totals    –  69,848,380  –  –  69,848,380
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40.	 SHARE	OPTION	SCHEME (Continued)

the following table sets out the movements in the share options of GDC technology during the year 
ended 31 December 2006:

	 Number	of	share	options	
	 	 	 	 		 		 		 Cancelled/
	 	 	 	 Balance		 Granted		 Exercised		 lapsed		 Balance
Category	of	 Date	 Exercise	 Exercise	 as	at		 during		 during		 during		 as	at
grantees	 of	grant	 price	 period	 1.1.2006		 the	year		 the	year		 the	year		 31.12.2006

Directors 29.9.2006 HK$0.145 29.9.2006 – –  12,693,334  (2,130,000 ) –  10,563,334
   28.9.2009

employees 29.9.2006 HK$0.145 29.9.2006 – –  12,789,998  –  (10,000 ) 12,779,998
   28.9.2009

other  29.9.2006 HK$0.145 29.9.2006 – –  1,173,333  –  –  1,173,333
 Participants   28.9.2009

totals    –  26,656,665  (2,130,000 ) (10,000 ) 24,516,665

the fair value per option of HK$0.013, HK$0.08, HK$0.58, HK$0.86, HK$0.88 and HK$0.83 for 
options granted on 29 september 2006, 6 october 2006, 22 march 2007, 4 april 2007, 30 october 
2007 and 2 november 2007, respectively, were calculated using the binomial option Valuation 
pricing model. the inputs into the model were as follows:

	 Share	option	grant	date
	 29	September	 	 6	October		 22	March		 4	April		 30	October		 2	November
	 2006		 	 2006	 	 2007		 	2007		 	2007		 	2007

Weighted average
 share price HK$0.10  HK$0.28  HK$1.07  HK$1.52  HK$2.70  HK$2.34
exercise price HK$0.145  HK$0.30  HK$1.07  HK$1.52  HK$2.75  HK$2.00
expected volatility 32%  87%  89%  97%  68%  51%
expected life 3 years  3 years  3 years  3 years  5 years  5 years
risk-free rate 3.77%  3.75%  3.88%  3.89%  3.49%  3.34%
expected dividend yield nil  nil  nil  nil  nil  nil

expected volatility of the Company and GDC technology were determined by using the historical 
volatility of the Company’s share price and the share price of other companies in the similar industry, 
respectively. the expected life used in the model have been adjusted, based on management’s best 
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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40.	 SHARE	OPTION	SCHEME (Continued)

the Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$57,402,000 (2006: HK$5,937,000) for 
the year ended 31 December 2007 in relation to share options granted by the Company and GDC 
technology.

the share options of the Company and GDC technology granted to other participants are measured 
by reference to the fair value of options granted as these other participants render services similar 
to those as employees.

41.	 MAJOR	NON	CASH	TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group had goods sold in exchange for an intangible 
asset in the amount of HK$132,912,000 (2006: nil).

42.	 OPERATING	LEASES

the Group as lessee

at the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Within one year 6,757	 1,791
in the second to fifth year inclusive 6,629	 3,321
over five years 3,289	 3,905

 16,675	 9,017

operating lease payment represents rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises, 
production studio, training centers, warehouse and staff quarters. leases for properties are 
negotiated for a term ranging from one to ten years with fixed rentals.

43.	 RETIREMENT	BENEFITS	SCHEME

the Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all 
employees in Hong Kong and singapore. the assets of the schemes are held separately from those 
of the Group in independently administered funds.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government in the PrC, the subsidiaries in the PrC 
participate in the municipal government contribution scheme whereby the subsidiaries are required 
to contribute to the scheme for the retirement benefit of eligible employees. the municipal 
government of the PrC is responsible for the entire benefit obligations payable to the retired 
employees. the only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing 
contributions required by the scheme.
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43.	 RETIREMENT	BENEFITS	SCHEME (Continued)

the retirement benefit costs represent gross contributions paid and payable by the Group to the 
schemes operated in Hong Kong, the PrC and singapore (collectively the “retirement schemes”). 
Contributions totalling approximately HK$151,000 (2006: HK$133,000) payable to the retirement 
schemes at 31 December 2007 are included in other payables and accrued charges. there was no 
forfeited contribution throughout the year (2006: nil).

44.	 CAPITAL	COMMITMENTS

 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provide
 in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and
 intangible asset 2,928  –
investment in an associate 20,954  –

 23,882  –

45.	 RELATED	PARTY	TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:
 
  2007  2006
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

rental expense paid to shougang Grand
 in respect of an office premises (a) 600	 540

interest expense paid to south China leasing
 in respect of obligations under finance leases (b) 66	 107

interest expense payable to mr. anthony Francis
 neoh (c) –	 2,413
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45.	 RELATED	PARTY	TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Notes:

(a) the transaction was carried out in accordance with the relevant tenancy agreement.

(b) the transaction was carried out in accordance with relevant lease agreements. as disclosed in note 
35, the Group had entered into finance lease arrangements with south China leasing in respect of 
computer equipment. the relevant carrying values of the computer equipment held under finance 
leases amounted to approximately HK$504,000 (2006: HK$1,094,000) as at 31 December 2007, as 
disclosed in note 18.

(c) mr. anthony Francis neoh was the shareholder of shougang Grand.

in addition, on 6 July 2006, the Company had agreed to transfer 4,266,667 shares, 4,266,667 
shares and 7,466,666 shares in the issued share capital of GDC technology, to mr. Cao Zhong, 
mr. Chen Zheng and Dr. Chong man nang, respectively, for an aggregate cash consideration 
of HK$1,600,000. Details of the transfer of shares in GDC technology were disclosed in the 
circular dated 28 July 2006.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
the remuneration of the Directors and other members of key management during the year was 
as follows:
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

short-term benefits 10,575	 5,305
Post-employment benefits 63	 36
share-based payments 50,759	 3,965

 61,397	 9,306

the remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Details of balances and transactions with related parties as at the balance sheet date are set out in 
the consolidated balance sheet and in notes 30 to 36.



110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

46.	 PARTICULARS	OF	SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

	 	 	 Particulars
	 Form	of	 Place	of	 of	 issued	
	 business	 incorporation/	 share	capital/	 Attributable	 Principal	activities
Name	of	subsidiary	 structure	 establishment	 paid	up	capital	 equity	 interest	of	 the	Group	 and	place	of	operation
	 directly	 indirectly
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    % % % %

GDC (bVi) limited incorporated bVi 521,418,075 ordinary 100 100 – – investment holding
    shares of Us$0.01
    each

GDC Holdings limited incorporated bVi 521,418,075 ordinary – – 100 100 investment holding
    shares of Us$0.01
    each

GDC asset management incorporated bVi 1 ordinary share – – 100 100 investment holding
 limited    of Us$1

GDC China limited incorporated Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares – – 100 100 investment holding
    of HK$1 each

GDC Digital Cinema incorporated bVi 1 ordinary share – – 100 – inactive
 network limited    of Us$1 each

GDC entertainment limited incorporated bVi 3,510 ordinary shares – – 100 100 inactive
 (“GDC entertainment”)    of Us$1 each

GDC international limited incorporated samoa 1 ordinary share – – 100 100 Provision of CG animation
    of Us$1      creation and production
         services

GDC management services incorporated Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares – – 100 100 Provision of administration
 limited    of HK$1 each      and management service

GDC technology limited incorporated bVi 232,595,092 ordinary – – 61.9 83.3 Provision of computing
    shares of HK$0.10      solutions for digital
         content distribution
         and exhibitions in
         a worldwide basis

GDC Technology  Incorporated BVI 1 ordinary share – – 61.9 83.3 Inactive
 China Limited    of US$1

GDC Technology  Incorporated Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares – – 61.9 – Provision of computer
 (Hong Kong) Limited    of HK$1      solutions for digital
         content distribution and
         exhibitions
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46.	 PARTICULARS	OF	SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

	 	 	 Particulars
	 Form	of	 Place	of	 of	 issued	
	 business	 incorporation/	 share	capital/	 Attributable	 Principal	activities
Name	of	subsidiary	 structure	 establishment	 paid	up	capital	 equity	 interest	of	 the	Group	 and	place	of	operation
	 directly	 indirectly
    2007 2006 2007 2006
    % % % %

GDC technology Pte. ltd. incorporated singapore 900,000 ordinary – – 61.9 83.3 Provision of computing
    shares of s$1.00      solutions for digital
         content distribution
         and exhibitions in
         a worldwide basis

GDC technology (Usa), incorporated United states Us$1,000 – – 61.9 – Provision of computer
 llC         solutions for digital
         content distribution and
         exhibitions

shougang GDC media incorporated Hong Kong 1 ordinary share – – 100 – investment holding
 Holding limited    of HK$1

環球數碼媒體科技(上海) incorporated PrC Us$1,300,000 – – 100 100 Provision of CG and
 有限公司         animation training
institute of Digital media         in the PrC
 technology (shanghai)
 limited

環球數碼媒體科技研究(深圳) incorporated PrC Us$35,353,896 – – 100 100 Provision of CG and
 有限公司         animation training,
institute of Digital media         development of
 technology (shenzhen)         multimedia software
 limited         and hardware, and
         provision of related
         technical consultancy
         services in the PrC

深圳市環球數碼影視 incorporated PrC rmb3,000,000 – – 100 100 animation investment
 文化有限公司

深圳市環球數碼科技 incorporated PrC rmb3,000,000 – – 61.9 83.3 Provision of computer
 有限公司         solutions for digital
         content distribution and
         exhibitions

深圳市南山區環球 school PrC rmb200,000 – – 100 – Provision of CG and
 數碼培訓學校         animation training in
         the PrC

上海環球數碼職業 school PrC rmb200,000 – – 100 – Provision of CG and
 技能培訓學校         animation training in
         the PrC

none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year and at the end of the year.



112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

47.	 LITIGATION

on 14 may 2003, GDC entertainment limited (“GDC entertainment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, entered into a co-production agreement (the “Co-production agreement”) with 
Westwood audiovisual and multimedia Consultants, inc. (“WamC”) and P&Pm, in which the Group 
has a 25% equity interest, in relation to an animated television series.

in about november 2004, P&Pm and WamC commenced proceedings against GDC entertainment in 
the Court of Commerce of angouleme (France) alleging breaches on the part of GDC entertainment 
of the Co-production agreement.

in relation to the French proceedings, the Group’s French legal advisers have advised that 
the enforcement of P&Pm’s and WamC’s claims should only be limited to the assets of GDC 
entertainment.

Further, arbitration proceedings were commenced by GDC entertainment against P&Pm and WamC 
in Hong Kong by way of a notice of arbitration dated 16 June 2005 issued pursuant to the Co-
production agreement. in the arbitration, issues had been raised by GDC entertainment as to 
whether P&Pm and/or WamC was in repudiatory breach of the Co-production agreement which 
entitled GDC entertainment to terminate the same claim of damages from P&Pm and WamC. 
Pleadings have not yet been exchanged in the arbitration. P&Pm and WamC have applied to the 
arbitrator for the determination of a preliminary issue as to whether the arbitrator has jurisdiction to 
hear the dispute which GDC entertainment will refer to the arbitrator in the arbitration. the hearing 
of the application was held on 20 January 2006. award of the arbitrator was published on the issue 
of Jurisdiction on 23 march 2006 dismissing the application, and made an order for costs in GDC 
entertainment’s favour in respect of the application. since then, there has been no further step taken 
by the parties. GDC entertainment has written to the arbitrator seeking directions for the further 
conduct of the arbitration, including the service of pleadings in the arbitration. GDC entertainment is 
still waiting to hear from the arbitrator as to how she would like to proceed with the arbitration.

the Directors are of the opinions that settlement of the claim is remote. accordingly, no provision for 
any potential liability has been made in the consolidated financial statements.
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48.	 SUMMARISED	BALANCE	SHEET	OF	THE	COMPANY
 
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  HK$’000

non-current assets
 interests in subsidiaries –	 –
 amounts due from subsidiaries 304,385	 –

 304,385	 –

Current assets
 Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 362	 807
 bank balances and cash 2,111	 60

 2,473	 867

Current liabilities
 other payables and accruals 1,631	 4,631
 amounts due to fellow subsidiaries –	 12,284
 amounts due to directors 2,912	 2,308
 amount due to other related party –	 303
 loan from other related party –	 208
 loan from a fellow subsidiary – due within one year 35,000	 –

 39,543	 19,734

net current liabilities (37,070	) (18,867 )

total assets less current liabilities 267,315  (18,867 )

non-current liability
 loan from a fellow subsidiary – due after one year –	 92,169

net asset (liabilities) 267,315	 (111,036 )

Capital and reserves
 share capital 12,952	 8,008
 share premium and reserves 254,363	 (119,044 )

total equity 267,315	 (111,036 )
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

 For the year ended 31 December	
	 2003		 2004		 2005		 2006		 2007
	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

Revenue	 11,478		 47,987		 32,195		 54,920		 246,125

(Loss)	profit	 from	operations	 (28,045	)	 (125,657	)	 (68,530	)	 (17,165	)	 28,868
Finance	costs	 (5,255	)	 (5,545	)	 (7,675	)	 (13,080	)	 (4,002 )
Share	of	 loss	of	an	associate	 –		 –		 –		 –		 (298 )

(Loss)	profit	before	 tax	 (33,300	)	 (131,202	)	 (76,205	)	 (30,245	)	 24,568
Income	 tax	credit	 (expense)	 151		 (25	)	 (151	)	 –		 (3,099 )

(Loss)	profit	 for	 the	year	 (33,149	)	 (131,227	)	 (76,356	)	 (30,245	)	 21,469

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 At 31 December	
	 2003		 2004		 2005		 2006		 2007
	 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000		 HK$’000

Total	assets	 146,003		 69,060		 34,319		 26,501		 528,477
Total	 liabilities	 77,561		 122,621		 162,531		 181,210		 93,286

Net	assets	 (liabilities)	 68,442		 (53,561	)	 (128,212	)	 (154,709	)	 435,191
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